ORNL/CON-37



OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY



# MASTER

# A Neoclassical Theory of Durable Good Diffusion

Jerry R. Jackson David L. Kaserman

OPERATED BY UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION FOR THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

# DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency Thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

# DISCLAIMER

Portions of this document may be illegible in electronic image products. Images are produced from the best available original document.

Printed in the United States of America. Available from National Technical Information Service U.S. Department of Commerce 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virginia 22161 NTIS price codes—Printed Copy: A05 Microfiche A01

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for any third party's use or the results of such use of any information, apparatus, product or process disclosed in this report, or represents that its use by such third party would not infringe privately owned rights.



ORNL/CON-37

Contract No. W-7405-eng-26

Energy Division

A NEOCLASSICAL THEORY OF DURABLE GOOD DIFFUSION

Jerry R. Jackson\* and David L. Kaserman

Department of Energy Office of Conservation and Solar Applications and Energy Information Administration

Date Published: October 1979

\*Present address: Charles River Associates, Boston, MA 02116

OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37830 operated by UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION for the DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY



DISTRIBUTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IS UNLIMITED

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

# CONTENTS

		Page	
ABSTRACT			
I.	INTRODUCTION	1	
II.	A BRIEF SYNOPSIS OF THE DIFFUSION LITERATURE	3	
	A. Market Penetration Functions	• 3	
	B. Factors Affecting the Rate of Market Penetration	7	
	C. Shortcomings of the Traditional Approach	11	
III.	CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND SIMPLIFYING ASSUMPTIONS	15	
IV.	AN INVESTMENT MODEL OF DURABLE GOOD DIFFUSION	19	
	A. A Generalized Penetration Function	20	
	B. The Individual Replacement Criterion	22	
	C. The Aggregate Time Path of Cumulative Percentage Replacements	26	
	D. The Structural Penetration Function	28	
	E. Some Comparative Static Results	33	
۷.	THE IMPACT OF PERFORMANCE UNCERTAINTY ON NEW PRODUCT	37	
	A. The Decision Maker's Objective Function Under Uncertainty	37	
	B. The Optimal Age to Replacement	41	
	C. The Effect of Uncertainty on the Market Penetration	_	
	Function	44	
VI. ·	SOME SIMULATION RESULTS	47	
VII.	CONCLUSION	59	
FOOTNOTES			
ACKNO	DWLEDGEMENTS	67	
REFER	RENCES	69	

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Ň

## ABSTRACT

Existing studies that deal with the diffusion of durable good innovations have been justifiably criticized for their common lack of an explicit testable theory of new product growth. This paper attempts to remedy this situation by providing a theoretical model of market penetration of new durable goods that is derived from the basic assumption that potential users of the new intermediate product attempt to minimize the discounted costs of production over time. The resulting model defines a time path of short-run equilibrium market shares that are determined by the cost characteristics (capital cost and operating and maintenance expenses) of both the new innovation and the equipment that it is designed to replace, the age distribution of the existing capital stock, and the growth rate of the adopting sector.

This model is shown to exhibit several attractive features lacking in existing models of the diffusion process. First, it yields a number of testable hypotheses, some of which have received indirect empirical support in previous studies on the subject. Second, it is operational in the absence of historical data on the market experience of the new good under investigation. And third, it is capable of generating, on the basis of such *ex ante* information, the complete range of functional forms used in prior models to represent the relationship between market share and elapsed time since introduction of the new innovation. These features render the model inherently superior to existing studies for the analysis of emerging products and frontier technologies for which market data are not yet available.

ν

## I. INTRODUCTION

The dynamic process whereby a new product increases its share of a given market over time has received increasing attention over the past two decades following the appearance of the seminal papers by Griliches (1957) and Mansfield (1961). Over this period, a variety of models that describe the time path of market share growth following the introduction of a new innovation have been examined in attempts to develop forecasting tools that may be used for investment planning and related activities.<sup>1</sup> While the empirical results obtained with such models have often been quite good by forecasting standards, the theoretical foundation that supports these efforts has never been fully developed.<sup>2</sup> As a result, the current literature on this subject exhibits two major related shortcomings, both of which can be traced to the lack of an explicit testable theory of the market penetration process. First, a concensus concerning the precise causal mechanism that generates specific observed diffusion paths remains elusive at the present time. And second, without exception, existing forecasting models require the use of historical data on the market experience of the given innovation in order to be implemented.<sup>3</sup> Together, these shortcomings severely limit the applicability and, therefore, the general usefulness of the tool kit that has come to be known as technological forecasting.

The purpose of this paper is to derive an explicit microeconomic theory of durable good diffusion from the basic maintained hypothesis that potential users of a new innovation attempt to minimize the discounted costs of producing a given output over time. That is, we assume that purchasers of a given set of substitutable durable goods have the objective of dynamic cost minimization, whether such purchasers are households (for consumer durables) or firms (for producer durables.)<sup>4</sup>

The resulting model will be seen to exhibit several attractive features. First, it is founded upon a clearly defined hypothesis of potential user optimization. Second, it is structural in nature, with explicit channels of causation depicted. Third, it is completely operational in the absence of historical data concerning the market experience of the new good under investigation. And fourth, it receives considerable empirical support from the results of numerous past studies on the subject. These features render this model inherently superior to existing studies for the analysis of expected diffusion of anticipated innovations and currently emerging products for which market data are not yet available, thereby significantly expanding the range of potential applications of market penetration analysis.

The report is organized as follows: Section II summarizes the prior literature concerning the diffusion of new innovations. Three basic classes of market penetration functions are described, and some early empirical evidence relating to the causal factors that influence the rate of adoption of new goods over time is presented. Section III describes a conceptual framework for viewing the market penetration process within the traditional demand and supply model of microeconomic theory. This section also lists several assumptions that are employed in the analysis presented in this report (most of which are not crucial to the theory that is derived but serve to simplify the presentation and highlight the basic process involved). Section IV presents a new theory of durable good diffusion that is derived from the basic maintained hypothesis of dynamic cost minimization and explores the role of investment in the adopting sector (both for replacement and expansion) in determining the time path of new product growth. Section V examines the impact of new product performance uncertainty on the time path of diffusion generated by the model derived in the preceding section. Section VI presents some simulation results obtained with this model that demonstrate the manner in which market penetration forecasts can be derived. Finally, Section VII summarizes the analysis and describes some potentially fruitful areas for future research.

# II. A BRIEF SYNOPSIS OF THE DIFFUSION LITERATURE

Analysis of the dynamic process through which the market adjusts to the appearance of a new product has traditionally proceeded in two distinct stages. First, a market penetration function that expresses the percentage market share (in terms of either sales or equipment in place) of the new good in a given market as a function of time since introduction has been fit to the historical data for a particular innovation. Then, the slope parameter of this estimated relationship has been employed as the dependent variable in a second stage of estimation to explain the causal forces that influence the speed of adjustment either across innovations or across separate markets (either geographical or industrial) for a given innovation. The following two sections describe the kinds of approaches taken and the results obtained in carrying out these two stages of analysis.

## A. Market Penetration Functions

With regard to the first stage of estimation, three basic classes of market penetration functions have been employed with varying degrees of success in the literature. Although none of these functions has been founded upon an explicit theory of producer or consumer optimization, the first two classes do postulate specific behavioral assumptions that lead directly to the estimating equations.

First, what has come to be called the "modified exponential" market penetration function is founded upon the assumption that the instantaneous rate of growth of the market share of the new product depends solely upon the remaining distance to the maximum attainable share, i.e.,

$$\frac{dP(t)}{dt} = a[L - P(t)], \qquad (2.1)$$

where P(t) is market share at time t, L is the upper limit of market share (< 1), and a is a constant to be estimated.<sup>5</sup> Assuming that the process starts at the origin (which is assured by measuring time from the moment at which the innovation is introduced) the solution to this differential equation is

$$P(t) = L[1 - exp(-at)],$$
 (2.2)

the graph of which appears as Fig. 2.1. In order to estimate the parameter a, Eq. (2.2) may be transformed to

$$ln\left[\frac{L-P(t)}{L}\right] = -at, \qquad (2.3)$$

where the left-hand side is calculated from observations on P(t) and prior estimates of L.<sup>6</sup> A basic feature of this class of penetration functions is that the rate of increase in market share over time declines monotonically. The highest growth rate is attained immediately upon introduction of the new product.

The second class of penetration functions that is founded upon an explicit behavioral assumption is the logistic.<sup>7</sup> Here, it is postulated that the instantaneous rate of growth of market share is proportional to the product of the remaining distance to the maximum attainable share and the currently attained share, i.e.,

$$\frac{dP(t)}{dt} = aP(t)[L - P(t)].$$
 (2.4)

The solution to this differential equation is

$$P(t) = L[1 + b exp(-aLt)]^{-1},$$
 (2.5)

where b is a constant depending upon the initial conditions. In order to estimate the parameter a, Eq. (2.5) may be transformed to

$$ln\left[\frac{P(t)}{L - P(t)}\right] = ln(1/b) + aLt, \qquad (2.6)$$

where, again, prior estimates of L are required.<sup>8</sup> The graph of the logistic penetration function is shown in Fig. 2.2. Two basic features of this class of penetration functions stand out. First, the function increases at an increasing rate (positive first and second derivatives) during the early stages of new product growth and then increases at a decreasing rate (positive first derivative and negative second derivative) during the later stages. And second, the function is symmetric about the point of inflection at P(t) = L/2.<sup>9</sup>





ъ





.

Finally, the third major class of market penetration functions is not based upon any common behavioral assumption, although certain individual models in this class do postulate specific hypotheses concerning the dynamic process involved. Rather, the rationale for this class of functions rests upon the empirical observation that many (if not most) market penetration curves observed in practice exhibit an asymmetric S-shape with the upper portion of the curve elongated.<sup>10</sup> Figure 2.3 depicts such a curve. Two skewed S-shaped functions that have appeared in the literature are the Gompertz curve given by

$$P(t) = La^{(b^{t})}, 0 < a, b < 1,$$
 (2.7)

and the cumulative lognormal given by

$$P(t) = L_{0} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{(2\pi\sigma^{2})^{1/2}\theta} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2\sigma^{2}} \left[\log(\theta) - \mu\right]^{2}\right\} d\theta.$$
 (2.8)

The basic feature of this class of functions is a positive first derivative with a second derivative that changes from positive to negative at some P(t) < L/2.<sup>11</sup> Depending upon the location of the point of inflection, the skewed S-shaped curve can approximate either the modified exponential or the logistic.

### B. Factors Affecting the Rate of Market Penetration

Given an estimate of the time path of market share growth (which is, in essence, nothing more than a concise method for describing the observed growth path) several studies have proceeded to investigate various hypotheses concerning those factors that may be expected to influence the rate of market penetration over time. This second stage of analysis has generally been carried out by specifying and estimating a functional relationship between the estimated value of the slope parameter of a given penetration function (usually the logistic) and a vector of explanatory variables.

The observational units employed in this second stage estimation (i.e., the units across which separate market penetration functions are estimated) are either individual geographic or industrial markets for one given innovation [Griliches (1957) and Romeo (1975)] or aggregate





 $\infty$ 

markets for a sample of different innovations [Mansfield (1961) and Blackman (1972)]. Across these units, variations in the estimated values of the slope parameters of the penetration functions [e.g., variations in the estimated values of the parameter a from Eq. (2.6) for a sample of innovations] have generally been explained by variations in the measured profitability of introducing the innovation and the size of the investment required for installation. Hypotheses concerning the effects of these variables on the rate of penetration over time are that increases in profitability will accelerate the penetration process and that increases in the size of the required investment will retard it. The rationale often provided for the first hypothesis is obtained by analogy to the biological sciences where it has been found that the speed of response to a stimulus is directly related to the intensity of that stimulus.<sup>12</sup> The second hypothesis is based upon a perceived reluctance to commit a large amount of funds to a new technology and possible difficulties in obtaining financing for relatively costly projects.<sup>13</sup>

The study by Mansfield (1961) illustrates the approach adopted in these investigations and the kinds of results generally obtained. After fitting a logistic penetration function to the data for 12 innovations that were adopted in four industries, the following equation is specified:

$$\hat{a}_{ij} = \beta_{i0} + \beta_1 \pi_{ij} + \beta_2 S_{ij} + \mu_{ij}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where  $\pi_{ij}$  is the average profitability of introducing the jth innovation in the ith industry,  $S_{ij}$  is the size of the investment required for purchase and installation,  $\hat{a}_{ij}$  is the estimated value of the slope parameter of the logistic penetration function for each of the 12 innovations,  $\mu_{ij}$  is a random disturbance term, and the  $\beta$ s are constants to be estimated. Notice that the intercept of the specified relationship is allowed to vary across the four industries in the sample. This variation is incorporated in order to reflect basic differences among these industries in their inherent inclination to innovate.

As reported by Mansfield, estimation of the parameters of Eq. (2.9) by ordinary least squares yields the following results:

$$\hat{a}_{ij} = \begin{cases} -.29 \\ -.57 \\ -.52 \\ -.59 \end{cases} + .530 \pi_{ij} - .027 S_{ij}, r - .997, (2.10)$$

where, reading from the top, the intercept terms in brackets apply to the brewing industry, the coal industry, the steel industry, and the railroads, respectively. The figures in parentheses are the estimated standard errors of the respective coefficient estimates. The model appears to fit the data quite well and provides empirical support for the hypotheses described above concerning the qualitative influence of  $\pi_{ij}$  and  $S_{ij}$  on the observed rate of market penetration. Although the precise causal mechanism through which these effects occur is not made clear, these results do indicate a definite correlation.

Having obtained these results, Mansfield re-estimates Eq. (2.10) incorporating four additional exogenous variables that may be expected to influence the rate of adoption of new innovations. These variables are added to the right-hand side of the estimating equation one at a time.<sup>14</sup> The additional factors included are: (1)  $d_{ij}$ , the number of years that typically elapsed before the old equipment was replaced prior to the appearance of the new innovation (to capture the influence of durable fixed equipment); (2)  $g_{ij}$ , the annual rate of growth of industry sales during the observational period (to account for use of the innovation in new plants constructed to accommodate industry growth); (3) t<sub>11</sub>, the year in which the innovation was introduced (to reflect the increasing efficiency of communications channels over time); and (4)  $S_{ii}$ , a binary variable indicating the phase of the business cycle when the innovation was introduced. The results obtained are inconclusive. Although the qualitative effects are in the expected directions, none of the coefficients of these additional variables are statistically significant. Furthermore, inclusion of any of these variables renders the coefficient estimate of S<sub>ij</sub> insignificant.<sup>15</sup> Consequently, on the basis of this evidence, Mansfield concludes that the primary determinants of the rate of adoption of new innovations are profitability and size of investment.

## C. Shortcomings of the Traditional Approach

The seminal papers by Griliches (1957) and Mansfield (1961) provide a useful foundation for the analysis of new product growth by both bringing to light the importance of the market penetration process and describing the time path of diffusion for a variety of innovations. In addition, these papers present initial empirical evidence relating to the determinants of variations in observed growth rates across these innovations. Unfortunately, the approach adopted in these studies inhibits or prohibits a direct application of the methodology employed to many important questions of current concern. More unfortunately, however, subsequent analyses have failed to build upon the foundation provided in these studies and have, instead, continued to apply only slight variations of the original approach. Although such applications have served to substantiate the initial results obtained, confirming both the empirical regularity of the general sigmoid penetration function and the significant role of profitability and size of investment in determining the rate of penetration across innovations, they have failed to refine or extend the methodology employed in these early studies. As a result, the current state of the diffusion literature continues to exhibit certain basic shortcomings that severely limit the range of questions that can be addressed.

The principle shortcoming is that the existing literature does not provide an explicit testable theory of the diffusion process. That is, the estimating equations and empirical hypotheses are not derived from an explicit optimization process wherein potential users of a new innovation attempt to maximize or minimize a given objective function under clearly defined constraints. Instead, specific behavioral assumptions [e.g., the assumptions represented in Eqs. (2.1) and (2.4) above] are employed to generate empirical relationships that appear to agree with a given set of data with no explanation provided as to why one should expect such behavior to be representative of the population in general. Thus, existing models remain essentially descriptive providing little more than *ad hoc* explanations for *ex post* observations. Consequently, the causal links through which variations in exogenous variables lead to anticipated variations in observed patterns of diffusion are never clearly defined.

The descriptive nature of existing diffusion models renders them totally inadequate for long-term forecasting purposes. Such inadequacy stems from three more specific sources. First, restricting the sample to that portion of the potential user population that does, in fact, eventually adopt the innovation under investigation begs the question of forecasting the long-run equilibrium market share that a new product may be expected to attain.<sup>16</sup>

Second, the absence of an explicit theoretical model that is capable of generating a time path of diffusion on the basis of potential user optimization in the presence of exogenous constraints results in a marked inability to select from among the various possible penetration functions in the absence of some historical experience. Given the empirical success enjoyed in particular applications by each of the three basic classes of penetration functions described above, one cannot be confident, on the basis of pre-experience data, that a given innovation will conform to a specific pattern of diffusion that can be represented by one of these functions. Consequently, existing diffusion models require some actual observations on the time path of market share growth in order to establish the appropriate functional form to employ in a given situation.<sup>17</sup> The burden of this requirement renders such models useless in forecasting the market penetration of new products for which market experience data are unavailable. This, in turn, severely limits their applicability to long-range forecasting in arcas experiencing rapid technological change.

And third, even if one were willing to make the somewhat heroic assumption that all future market penetration functions would assume the logistic shape and attempt to apply Mansfield's results to emerging products, the incorporation of unexplained industry-specific effects in the empirical model [i.e., allowing the intercept term in Eq. (2.10) to vary across industries] would inhibit forecasting capabilities when the new innovation is directed toward industries for which prior estimates of these effects do not exist. Given anticipated values for  $\pi_{ij}$  and  $S_{ij}$  for a given innovation and estimates of  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  in Eq. (2.9), one cannot forecast the future value of  $\hat{a}_{ij}$  unless an estimate of  $\beta_{i0}$  exists for the industry in question. Moreover, in the absence of any theory

or evidence concerning the determination of variations in  $\beta_{i0}$ , there is little reason to expect such prior estimates to remain valid over time.<sup>18</sup>

Given these problems associated with the traditional approach to the modeling of diffusion, it was decided that a revised methodology should be developed. To be useful in long-range forecasting, such a methodology should exhibit two basic characteristics. First, the model should be founded upon an explicit theory of potential user optimization. And second, the model should be operational in the absence of historical data for the particular innovation under investigation. The following sections are devoted to the derivation of a diffusion model that exhibits these basic characteristics.

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

#### III. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND SIMPLIFYING ASSUMPTIONS

A useful framework for the analysis of new product growth is provided by the concept of a series of short-run market share equilibria that approach a stable long-run equilibrium position over time. This market-oriented view of the dynamic process of product innovation was originally suggested by Griliches (1957) and is useful in separating the causal forces involved into supply-side and demand-side phenomena to which existing economic theory may be applied.

The mechanism through which this conceptual framework operates to establish both the time path of diffusion and the upper-limit market share of a new product is shown in Fig. 3.1. In the graph, both the supply curve, S(t), and the demand curve, D(t), for the new product shift outward over time until the long-run equilibrium quantity,  $Q(t_n)$ , is attained n periods after the introduction of the new innovation. These temporal shifts generate a time path of short-run equilibrium quantities, P(t), which, when divided by the exogenously determined total quantity of competing goods, determines the market penetration function in terms of percentage market shares. If this total quantity is stationary and equal to  $Q(t_n)$ , then the long-run equilibrium market share of the new product represented in the graph is one. If the total is greater than  $Q(t_n)$  [it cannot be less than  $Q(t_n)$  by definition], then the long-run equilibrium share is less than one. Short-run equilibrium price, p(t), of course, may rise or fall during the period of adjustment, depending upon the relative shifts in supply and demand over this interval of time. In the graph, equilibrium (market clearing) price declines from  $p(t_1)$  to  $p(t_n)$  over this period.

In the model developed below, we are concerned with the market penetration of durable good innovations. Consequently, the demand and supply curves in Fig. 3.1 must be interpreted in terms of service flows from installed equipment rather than sales, and the market share that is of interest is the percent of the existing capital stock that embodies the new technology.<sup>19</sup> This stock measure of the extent of diffusion (as opposed to a flow measure in terms of percentage sales of the new good) is the more relevant concept when dealing with durable goods inasmuch as



Fig. 3.1. A conceptual framework for analysis of market penetration.

the new technology's potential impact on productivity, energy use, etc., can only become effective as the improved equipment is installed over time. With these interpretive alterations in mind, however, the basic conceptualization depicted in Fig. 3.1 remains valid for the analysis of durable good innovations.

Given this conceptual framework, the derivation of a theory of market penetration becomes a problem in modeling the causal forces that generate temporal shifts in the demand for and supply of services from a new innovation. Outward shifts in the short-run supply curve over time may result from learning-by-doing on the part of the manufacturers of the new product (resulting from both the accumulation of human capital and basic engineering design or organization changes that lower the costs of production), economies of scale in the relevant input supply industries, and entry of new firms into the production of the new good. In the present study, we assume that these potential supply-side influences occur exogenously so that the dynamic adjustment path is endogenously determined by temporal shifts in the demand curve for the new innovation for a given time path of supply prices for the new durable good. In order to simplify our notation, we further assume that, once available on the market, the supply curve of the new product is infinitely price elastic and that this supply curve remains stable in all succeeding periods. This assumption has considerable precedent in the literature on diffusion and allows us to focus our attention on the important determinants of demand-side adjustments.<sup>20</sup>

In order to further simplify the presentation, we also assume that the new innovation is expected to eventually usurp the entire market for the given product class. That is, we assume that the ultimate long-run equilibrium market share of the new good is one. Like the previous assumption, this abstraction has precedent in the antecedent literature.<sup>21</sup> It is not crucial to the analysis but allows us to focus on the causal mechanism that generates the temporal shifts in the demand curve for the new product which, in turn, defines the time path of adjustment.

Finally, in order to focus upon the deterministic causal forces that influence observed diffusion paths (in contrast to the stochastic elements that also influence these paths), we initially depart from the

bulk of the existing market penetration literature and assume that potential users of the new innovation make their decisions under conditions of perfect information regarding all parameters relevant to the timing and selection of durable good purchases. This assumption permits us to examine demand-side adjustments in the absence of risk and uncertainty considerations. It is later relaxed in Section V where the effect of new product performance uncertainty on the diffusion of durable good innovations is examined.

Within the confines of these simplifying assumptions, we turn to our examination of the time-dependent demand-side fluctuations that theoretically define the diffusion process.

### IV. AN INVESTMENT MODEL OF DURABLE GOOD DIFFUSION

If we define the market share of a new durable good as the percent of equipment in place that embodies the new technology, then a durable good innovation can increase its share of the market in only two ways. First, it can replace previously installed equipment; and second, it can capture new sales that result from overall market expansion. In either case, gross investment in the adopting sector provides the vehicle for new product growth.<sup>22</sup>

The vintage approach and the accelerator principle of conventional investment theory provide the logical framework within which these two basic sources of durable good diffusion can be analyzed. The relative importance of these two sources of investment in determining the time path of short-run market share equilibria will, obviously, vary from one durable good innovation to another, but both sources should play some role in the market penetration of all such innovations.

In the model derived below, we shall treat new investment as exogenous and focus primary attention on replacement investment as the important driving force behind new product market share growth. Since the adoption of new, more efficient, durable goods will generally lead to a fall in the relative price of the final product that is produced with these durable goods which will, in turn, lead to an increase in the quantity of the final product demanded and, consequently, an increase in the rate of growth of the capital stock in the adopting sector, some part of the new investment component will, in fact, be endogenous to the diffusion process. Our decision to refrain from endogenizing this particular component and to emphasize replacement investment in the model at this point stems from two considerations. The first of these was our own perception of the relative importance of these two sources of market share growth in a typical diffusion process.<sup>23</sup> And the second was a desire to keep the model as simple as possible at this stage of development. Later refinements of the model will treat a portion of new investment as endogenous, but, for the moment, it will remain exogenous to the system.

With this choice of emphasis in mind, we turn to our derivation of a theory of durable good diffusion.

A. A Generalized Penetration Function

It will be useful to adopt the following notation:

- t<sub>0</sub> = the point in time at which the new durable good innovation is introduced;
- t = continuous time since introduction of the new good;
- K(t) = the size of the capital stock in the adopting sector at time t; and
- R(t) = the cumulative percent of the original capital stock in place at time t<sub>0</sub> that has been replaced with the new equipment at time t.

Our simplifying assumption that the long-run equilibrium level of market penetration is equal to one implies that the new innovation is, in the absence of fixed capital considerations, cost effective in all potential applications. That is, the new durable good completely dominates previously existing competing products in the market place. Therefore, under this assumption, all machines purchased as a result of growth in the total capital stock in the adopting sector will embody the improved technology, and the stock of the new durable good in place at time t that results from cumulative new investment will be

$$S_{N}(t) = K(t) - K(t_{0}).$$
 (4.1)

Generally, we would expect that  $K(t) \ge K(t_0)$  so that  $S_N(t) \ge 0$ , but this need not always be the case.

As for the second potential source of market share growth, the stock of new equipment in place at time t that results from cumulative replacement investment over the  $t_0$ , t time interval will be

$$S_{p}(t) = R(t)K(t_{0}).$$
 (4.2)

Since  $0 \le R(t) \le 1$  by definition and  $K(t_0) \ge 0$ , we must have  $S_R(t) \ge 0$ .

Summing these stocks of the new durable good that are in place at time t and dividing by the total stock of installed capital equipment, we obtain the percentage market share or level of market penetration of

..

the new innovation at time t as

•

$$P(t) = [S_N(t) + S_R(t)]/K(t).$$
 (4.3)

•

Substituting from (4.1) and (4.2),

$$P(t) = [K(t) - K(t_0) + R(t)K(t_0)]/K(t)$$
(4.4)

$$= 1 - [1 - R(t)]K(t_0)/K(t). \qquad (4.5)$$

Finally, the percentage growth of the total capital stock in the adopting sector over the  $t_0$ , t time interval is, by definition,

.

$$G(t) = \frac{K(t) - K(t_0)}{K(t_0)} . \qquad (4.6)$$

Therefore,

-

$$\frac{K(t_0)}{K(t)} = \frac{1}{1 + G(t)}, \qquad (4.7)$$

which, when substituted into (4.5), gives our generalized market penetration function in terms of percentage cumulative replacements and percentage growth in the total capital stock as

 $P(t) = 1 - \frac{1 - R(t)}{1 + G(t)} . \qquad (4.8)$ 

As noted above, we treat G(t) as exogenous to the model at this point and focus our attention on the economic relationships involved in the determination of R(t). This will be the subject of the next two subsections of the report. Following this, we will return to equation (4.8) to examine some important properties of the generalized P(t) function and to explore some comparative statics of the relationships that are derived.

(a) A set of the se

### B. The Individual Replacement Criterion

Consider a production process that extends over a finite period of time and that employs a given durable good in the manufacture of some final product. This product may be a good or service that is sold on the market (if the durable is a producer good) or a commodity that is both produced and consumed within the household (if the durable is a consumer good). Assume that the decision maker controlling the production of this final product has the objective of minimizing the present value of the total costs of production over some given period of time. Further, assume that the relevant planning horizon extends over a sufficient time interval to make replacement of the given durable good necessary at one or more points.

The decision of whether and when to replace a given piece of installed equipment is an economic one that, within our assumed objective of dynamic cost minimization, depends upon the relative cost characteristics of the new innovation and the existing equipment.<sup>24</sup> In order to examine this decision process, it will be useful to adopt the following notation:

- F. = capital (or fixed) cost of the ith durable good inclusive of the cost of installation, where i denotes temporal ordering;
- c (t) = operating and maintenance (or variable) cost of production using the ith durable good, which is assumed to increase monotonically with elapsed time since installation;

t; = optimal age to replacement of the ith durable good;

T = total length of the planning horizon; and

r = continuous rate of discount.

The actual cause behind increasing variable cost over time for installed equipment is not important to our analysis at this point. Such cost increases may stem from physical deterioration of the equipment in place, secular increases in the price of complementary inputs (e.g., fuel), or increasing obsolescence due to technological change (if costs are considered to be in relative terms).<sup>25</sup> The second category, input price increases, may provide an important incentive for replacement investment related to energy using durable goods, even in the absence of technological change.

Using the above notation, we may write the present value of the total costs of production over the 0,T time interval as

$$C = F_{1} + \int_{0}^{t_{1}^{*}} c_{1}(t) e^{-rt} dt + e^{-rt_{1}^{*}} \left[ F_{2} + \int_{0}^{t_{2}^{*}} c_{2}(t) e^{-rt} dt \right]$$
  
+  $e^{-r(t_{1}^{*} + t_{2}^{*})} \left[ F_{3} + \int_{0}^{t_{3}^{*}} c_{3}(t) e^{-rt} dt \right] + \cdots + e^{-r\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} t_{j}^{*}} \left[ F_{n} \quad (4.9) + \int_{0}^{t_{n}^{*}} c_{n}(t) e^{-rt} dt \right],$ 

since the ith machine in the n machine sequence must be purchased at time t =  $\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} t_0^*$ . Defining  $t_0^* = 0$ , this expression may be written as

$$C = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r\sum_{j=0}^{i-1} t_{j}^{*}} \left[ F_{i} + \int_{0}^{t} c_{i}(t) e^{-rt} dt \right] \right\}.$$
 (4.10)

Given knowledge of the relevant parameters  $F_i$  and r and the functions  $c_i(t)$ , i = 1, ..., n, the decision maker selects the optimal ages to replacement,  $t_i^*$ , that minimize C.

The first-order conditions necessary for such minimization are given by

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t_{1}^{*}} = c_{1}(t_{1}^{*})e^{-r\sum_{j=1}^{i}t_{j}^{*}} - re^{-r\sum_{j=1}^{i}t_{j}^{*}} \left[F_{i+1} + \int_{0}^{t_{i+1}}c_{i+1}(t)e^{-rt}dt\right]$$

$$= re^{-r\sum_{j=1}^{i+1}t_{j}^{*}} \left[F_{i+2} + \int_{0}^{t_{i+2}^{*}}c_{i+2}(t)e^{-rt}dt\right] - \cdots \qquad (4.11)$$

$$= re^{-r\sum_{j=1}^{n-1}t_{j}^{*}} \left[F_{n} + \int_{0}^{t_{n}}c_{n}(t)e^{-rt}dt\right] = 0, i = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

The optimal age to retirement of the last machine in the sequence,  $t_n^*$ , is determined by the exogenously assigned length of the planning horizon, T, and the condition that

$$T = \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{i}^{*}.$$
 (4.12)

Equation (4.11) may be rewritten as

$$c_{i}(t_{i}^{*}) = r \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r \sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} t_{k}^{*}} \left[ F_{j} + \int_{0}^{t_{j}^{*}} c_{j}(t) e^{-rt} dt \right] \right\}, \quad (4.13)$$

where  $\sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} t_k^* = 0$  when j = i + 1. This necessary condition for dynamic

cost minimization implies that replacement of an installed piece of equipment should occur at the age at which the variable cost of operation using the existing machine has risen to equality with the rate of discount times the sum of the total life cycle costs of production over the remainder of the planning horizon discounted back to the time of replacement. Since r is the value of a dollar per unit of time to the dccision maker, r times the discounted sum of the life cycle costs of operation over the remainder of the planning horizon is the marginal opportunity cost of delaying installation of the new equipment one time period; that is, it is the cost of having shifted the cost stream back (earlier) one unit of time by having not delayed replacement one more period. Optimality then requires that this cost should be equal to the cost of operation using the installed equipment at the moment at which replacement occurs.

If  $c_i(t)$  is monotonically increasing in t, equation (4.13) may be solved for  $t_i^*$ , the optimal age to replacement of the ith machine.<sup>26</sup> The solution is given by

$$t_{i}^{*} = c_{i}^{-1} \left( r_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r \sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} t_{k}^{*}} \left[ F_{j} + \int_{0}^{t} c_{j}(t) e^{-rt} dt \right] \right\} \right), (4.14)$$
  
i = 1,...,n-1,

where  $c_i^{-1}(\cdot)$  is the inverse function of  $c_i(t)$  and is, therefore, monotonically increasing.

Notice that the determination of  $t_i^*$  from equation (4.14) requires knowledge of  $t_{i+1}^*, t_{i+2}^*, \ldots, t_n^*$ . Thus, in calculating the optimal ages to replacement of the n machines in the sequence, the decision maker must solve the entire system of n-l equations given in (4.15) plus the additional relationship given in (4.12) simultaneously. This simultaneous characteristic of the solution to the equipment replacement decision problem was originally pointed out by Terborgh (1949, p. 57):

"It is evident from the foregoing that the predictive requirements of replacement analysis extend far beyond the forecasting of the future performance of presently available machines. The analyst must appraise also a series of machines *not now in existence*. If it is permissible so to describe the potentiality of devices still unborn, these machines are ghosts.

Ghosts though they be, it is impossible successfully to exorcise them. For since the choice between living machines can be made only by reference to the machines of tomorrow, the latter remain, whether we like it or not, an indispensable element in the calculation. It may be said, indeed, without too much exaggeration, that the appraisal of the ghosts involved is the heart of the replacement analysis. No replacement theory, no formula, no rule of thumb that fails to take cognizance of these ghosts and to assess their role in the play can lay claim to rational justification."

Terborgh's ghosts obviously impose a substantial information problem on the decision maker pondering the replacement issue. Determination of the optimal age to replacement of an existing machine requires knowledge of all future equipment prices, operating costs, and technological alternatives over the remainder of the planning horizon. A later section of this report will examine the impact of such uncertainties on the timing of equipment replacements; but, for present purposes of theoretical development, we will assume that this information burden is overcome by the decision maker. In practical situations, however, it is clear that predictions, forecasts, expectations, and blind guesses will play an important role in the replacement decision process. C. The Aggregate Time Path of Cumulative Percentage Replacements

Equation (4.14) defines the optimal age to replacement for the ith machine in the sequence of n machines employed by an individual decision maker in producing some level of final output over the O,T planning horizon. Without loss of generality, we may suppose that the durable good innovation that we are interested in is introduced on the market at

time t<sub>0</sub>, where  $\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \sum_{j=1}^{i} \le t_0 \le \sum_{j=1}^{i} t_j^*$ . That is, we assume that the new product becomes available after installation of the ith machine in the sequence but before installation of the i + 1th machine in the sequence for all individuals in the population of potential adopters. Therefore,  $c^{-1}(\cdot)$  in equation (4.14) will represent the inverse of the function that relates variable costs of operation to elapsed time since installa-

tion for the equipment in place at t<sub>0</sub>;  $F_{i+1}$  and  $\int_{0}^{t_{i+1}^{*}} c_{i+1}(t)e^{-rt}dt$  will represent the capital cost and the discounted life-cycle operating cost of the new durable good that is to replace the installed equipment;<sup>27</sup>

and  $F_{i+k}$  and  $\int_{0}^{t_{i+k}} c_{i+k}(t)e^{-rt}dt$ , k = 2, ..., n-i, will represent the cost characteristics of all later planned installations.

Then, given some estimate of the optimal age to replacement of the existing equipment with the new innovation,  $t_i^*$ , we need only consider the age structure of the aggregate stock of installed machines at the point in time at which the new innovation is introduced in order to determine the fraction of the original (old technology) equipment that will have been replaced with the new durable good in any following time period.<sup>28</sup> That is, the distribution of the ages of the installed equipment at time  $t_0$  provides the necessary information for aggregating individual replacement decisions into a consistent replacement investment function.

Letting  $f_{t_0}(A)$  denote the relative frequency distribution of the ages of machines in the existing stock at  $t_0$ , we will have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} f_{t_{0}}(A) dA = 1, \qquad (4.15)$$

since no machine can have a negative age. It is not necessary to place any restrictions on this distribution at this point except that it be confined to the positive real line.<sup>29</sup>

At time  $t_0$ , all installed machines of age  $t_i^*$  or greater must be replaced with the new innovation for discounted cost to remain at a minimum. Therefore, the fraction of existing equipment that should be replaced immediately when the new durable good becomes available, which we denote  $R(t_0)$ , is

$$R(t_0) = \int_{t_1^*}^{\infty} f_{t_0}(A) dA \ge 0.$$
 (4.16)

If the introduction of the new innovation extends the optimal age to replacement of existing equipment (i.e., if  $t_i^* > t_{i-1}^*$ ), then some machines that would have ordinarily been due for replacement will be kept in operation beyond their "normal" lifetime of  $t_{i-1}^*$ . In this case, there will exist no machines of age  $t_i^*$  or greater, and  $R(t_0) = 0$ . Also, R(t) will remain at zero until time  $t = t_i^* - t_{i-1}^*$  (where, recall, we are measuring t from  $t_0$ , i.e., t = 0 at  $t_0$ ). But if the cost characteristics of the new good act to lower the optimal age to replacement of existing equipment (i.e., if  $t_i^* < t_{i-1}^*$ ), then some fraction of the existing stock will be replaced immediately with the appearance of the new durable good, and  $R(t_0) > 0$ .

For time periods following the introduction of the new innovation (i.e., for t > 0), the cumulative fraction of the original stock of equipment in place at  $t_0$  that will optimally be replaced with the new innovation will increase over time at a rate that is dependent upon the value of  $t_*^*$  and the shape of the  $f_{t_0}(A)$  distribution. Cumulative percentage replacement will, then, be given by

$$R(t) = \int_{t_{i}^{*}-t}^{\infty} f_{t_{0}}(A) dA \ge 0.$$
 (4.17)
Together, equations (4.15) and (4.17) imply that the replacement process will have run to completion  $t_i^*$  units of time after the introduction of the new innovation since

$$R(t_{i}^{*}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{t_{0}}(A) dA$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{t_{0}}(A) da$$
$$= 1.$$
(4.18)

Figures 4.1 and 4.2 depict the aggregate time path of cumulative replacements generated by this model. In both figures,  $f_{t_0}(A)$  assumes the same approximate lognormal distribution with  $A_0$  denoting the age of the oldest machine in the stock. In Fig. 4.1,  $t_1^* < A_0$ , so  $R(t_0) > 0$ . R(t) then increases from this initial value according to the cumulative distribution of  $f_{t_0}(A)$  to a value of one  $t_1^*$  units of time after introduction of the new product. In Fig. 4.2,  $t_1^* > A_0$ , so  $R(t_0) = 0$  and remains at that value until time  $t = t_1^* - A_0$ . Then, R(t) increases according to the cumulative distribution of  $f_{t_0}(A)$  distribution is the same in these two figures, the considerably delayed growth of R(t) in Fig. 4.2 is entirely due to the increased value of  $t_1^*$  between these graphs which, in turn, must be due to a divergence in the cost characteristics exhibited by the

two hypothetical innovations (i.e.,  $F_{i+1} + \int_{0}^{t_{i+1}^{*}} c_{i+1} e^{-rt} dt$  must be smaller in Fig. 4.1).

### D. The Structural Penetration Function

The results of the two preceding subsections may now be used to write our generalized market penetration function in terms of its underlying structural components. Substituting equation (4.17) into (4.8), we obtain

$$P(t) = 1 - \left[1 - \int_{t_{i}^{*}-t}^{\infty} f_{t_{0}}(A) dA\right] \frac{1}{1 + G(t)} . \qquad (4.19)$$



Fig. 4.1. Time path of R(t) with  $t_i^* < A_0$ .



# Fig. 4.2. Time path of R(t) with $t_i^* > A_0$ .

Then, substituting (4.14) for  $t_i^*$  in this expression, we have

$$P(t) = 1 - \begin{bmatrix} 1 - & \int_{0}^{\infty} & f_{t_0}(A) dA \\ & & f_{t_0}(A) dA \end{bmatrix} \frac{1}{1 + G(t)} \quad (4.20)$$

$$= 1 - \begin{bmatrix} 1 - & \int_{0}^{\pi} & f_{t_0}(A) dA \\ & & f_{t_0}(A) dA \end{bmatrix} \frac{1}{1 + G(t)} \quad (4.20)$$

as our final structural equation.

This expression clearly demonstrates the functional dependence of the percentage penetration of a new durable good on (1) the capital cost and discounted life cycle operating cost of the new innovation; (2) the discount rate; (3) the rate of increase over time in the variable cost of operation using the installed equipment; (4) the age distribution of the existing capital stock; (5) the percentage growth of the total stock of equipment in place in the adopting sector; and (6) time. Clearly, the relative importance of these various factors will vary from one durable good innovation to another (or, for a given innovation, from one adopting sector to another); but as long as the decision makers involved attempt to minimize the discounted cost of operation, these variables will influence the time path of diffusion of the new product.

In addition to portraying the above structural relationships, the market penetration function given in (4.20) exhibits several properties that are in agreement with both *a priori* expectations and prior empirical observations concerning the time path of new product growth. First, since the total capital stock in the adopting sector cannot increase instantaneously, at the time at which the new innovation is introduced the percentage market share of the new good should be equal to the percent of installed equipment that is immediately replaced [i.e.,  $P(t_0)$  should equal  $R(t_0)$ ]. This property is easily verified. At  $t_0$ ,  $K(t) = K(t_0)$ , so, from (4.6), G(t) = 0. Substituting this into (4.8) and simplifying, we have

$$P(t_0) = R(t_0).$$
 (4.21)

Thus, our generalized penetration function fulfills this initial condition.<sup>30</sup>

Second, under our simplifying assumption that the long-run equilibrium market share of the new durable good is one, all new investment undertaken as a result of capital stock expansion will embody the new technology. In that case, we should expect the long-run equilibrium market share to be attained at that point in time at which the replacement process has run to completion (i.e., at  $t = t_i^*$ ). Using equation (4.18), we have from (4.8) that

$$P(t_i^*) = 1,$$
 (4.22)

so this terminal condition is also satisfied.

Third, in the absence of exogenous influences such as the appearance of additional innovations, the market share of the new good should increase monotonically over time from its initial value at  $t_0$  to its long-run equilibrium value at  $t_1^*$ . That is,  $\partial P(t)/\partial t$  should be non-negative throughout. From (4.8), we have

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial t} = \frac{\left[1 + G(t)\right] \frac{\partial R(t)}{\partial t} + \left[1 - R(t)\right] \frac{\partial G(t)}{\partial t}}{\left[1 + G(t)\right]^2} . \quad (4.23)$$

From (4.17),  $\partial R(t)/\partial t = f_{t_0}(t) \ge 0$ , and  $\partial G(t)/\partial t \ge 0$  by assumption. Then, since  $0 \le R(t) \le 1$ ,  $\partial P(t)/\partial t \ge 0$ . Thus, P(t) is nondecreasing in t.

In addition to fulfilling these prior conditions, the generalized market penetration function given in equations (4.8), (4.19), and (4.20) has the important property of being amenable to forecasting techniques prior to or at the time of introduction of the new innovation. All components of the structural equation are either observable or predictable at  $t_0$  or before:  $t_1^*$  may be calculated via expression (4.14) from engineering estimates of the capital cost and life cycle operating cost of the new good under investigation and the rate of increase in the operating cost of the installed equipment;  $f_{t_0}(A)$  is observable at  $t_0$  or may be predicted prior to that time; and G(t) may be predicted from growth forecasts for the adopting sector. Consequently, one can apply this diffusion model to new products which have not yet been introduced on the market.

Clearly, significant empirical difficulties are likely to be encountered in obtaining precise estimates of the various structural components. The appropriate value for  $t_i^*$  will vary across the stock of installed equipment to the extent that this stock is not perfectly homogeneous. Also, Terborgh's ghosts of technology future will return to haunt us in any calculation of  $t_i^*$ , even within a homogeneous capital stock. The age distribution of the installed stock of capital equipment, while potentially observable at  $t_0$ , is seldom available in the published data and will also suffer from nonhomogeneity of the machines in place. And, finally, predictions of the percentage growth of the capital stock in the adopting sector will be subject to forecasting uncertainties.

Despite these empirical problems of implementation, however, consideration of the available alternatives leaves little doubt concerning the usefulness of the above approach. The perennial problem encountered in market penetration analysis concerning the inability to select an appropriate functional form to represent the relationship between percentage market share and elapsed time since introduction of a new innovation on the basis of pre-experience information can be overcome through use of the structural model derived above.<sup>31</sup>

## E. Some Comparative Static Results

The penetration function given in expression (4.20) has been derived from our maintained hypothesis that potential users of a new durable good innovation behave in accordance with the objective of dynamic cost minimization. This theory of durable good diffusion implies the existence of certain causal relationships between the market share of the new product at time t and the values of the exogenous variables that enter on the right-hand side of the P(t) function. Such implied relationships constitute the qualitative hypotheses of the model and are briefly examined in this section of the report.

First, it is easily shown from equation (4.8) that increases in the percentage growth of the capital stock in the adopting sector lead to increases in the level of market penetration. From (4.8), we have

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial G(t)} = \frac{1 - R(t)}{[1 + G(t)]^2} \ge 0, \qquad (4.24)$$

where the inequality holds in all periods in which R(t) < 1 (i.e., prior to  $t = t_i^*$ ). Thus, market penetration can be expected to proceed more rapidly in markets that are experiencing growth.

Next, it can be shown that increases in the capital cost or the discounted life-cycle operating cost of the new durable good will lead to decreases in the level of market penetration. To show this, we note that

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial F_{i+1}} = \frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial R(t)} \frac{\partial R(t)}{\partial t_{i}^{*}} \frac{\partial t_{i}^{*}}{\partial F_{i+1}} . \qquad (4.25)$$

Then, from equation (4.8),

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial R(t)} = [1 + G(t)]^{-1} > 0.$$
(4.26)

From equation (4.17),

$$\frac{\partial R(t)}{\partial t_{i}^{*}} = - f_{t_{0}}(t_{i}^{*}) \leq 0.$$
(4.27)

And from equation (4.14),

$$\frac{\partial t_{i}^{*}}{\partial F_{i+1}} = r \frac{\partial c_{i}^{-1}(x)}{\partial x} > 0, \qquad (4.28)$$

where we have defined

$$x = r \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r \sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} t_{k}^{*}} \left[ F_{j} + \int_{0}^{t} c_{j}(t) e^{-rt} dt \right] \right\}, \quad (4.29)$$

so that, from (4.14),  $t_i^* = c_i^{-1}(x)$  and  $\partial c_i^{-1}(x)/\partial x > 0$  since  $c_i^{-1}(\cdot)$  is monotonically increasing. With this definition, expression (4.28) is obtained from the chain rule,  $\partial t_i^*/\partial F_{i+1} = [\partial c_i^{-1}(x)/\partial x] \cdot \partial x/\partial F_{i+1}$ . Then, substituting equations (4.26), (4.27), and (4.28) into equation (4.25), we have

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial F_{i+1}} = - \left[1 + G(t)\right]^{-1} f_{t_0}(t_i^*) r \frac{\partial c_i^{-1}(x)}{\partial x} \leq 0.$$
 (4.30)

Also, from (4.29), we see that

$$\frac{\partial x}{\substack{t_{i+1}^{\star}\\ \partial_0 \int c_{i+1}(t)e^{-rt}dt}} = \frac{\partial x}{\partial F_{i+1}} = r, \qquad (4.31)$$

so that,

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{t_{i+1}^{*}} = \frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial F_{i+1}} \le 0.$$

$$(4.32)$$

$$\partial_{0} \int c_{i+1}(t) e^{-rt} dt$$

Thus, the lower the capital cost or the discounted life-cycle operating cost of the new innovation, the faster the penetration process can be expected to proceed.

Finally, while it is not possible to fully explore the implications of variations in the parameters of the  $f_{t_0}(A)$  distribution without imposing a specific assumption about the form of the distribution, we can show from our general model that *increases in the age of the oldest* machine in the stock of equipment in place at  $t_0$  will lead to increases in the level of market penetration. Letting  $A_0$  denote the age of the oldest machine in the capital stock, we may rewrite equation (4.17) as

$$R(t) = \int_{t_{1}^{*}-t}^{A_{0}} f_{l_{0}}(A) dA, \qquad (4.33)$$

since  $f_{t_0}(A) = 0$  for all  $A > A_0$ . Then,

$$\frac{\partial R(t)}{\partial \Lambda_0} = f_{t_0}(\Lambda_0) > 0. \qquad (4.34)$$

Since  $\partial P(t)/\partial A_0 = [\partial P(t)/\partial R(t)] \cdot \partial R(t)/\partial A_0$ , equations (4.26) and (4.34) imply that

$$\frac{\partial P(t)}{\partial A_0} = f_{t_0}(A_0) [1 + G(t)]^{-1} > 0.$$
 (4.35)

Intuitively, this result implies that a concentration of old equipment in the capital stock of the adopting sector will facilitate new product growth through accelerated replacements.

Expressions (4.24), (4.30), (4.32), and (4.35) represent testable hypotheses that have been derived from our neoclassical theory of durable good diffusion. Obviously, similar hypotheses concerning the influence of changes in the discount rate and the rate of increase in the variable cost of operation using installed (old technology) equipment could also be derived if specific functional forms were adopted to represent the generalized functional relationships employed in the model. Those familiar with existing empirical studies of the market penetration process will recognize shades of these various hypotheses throughout much of the published literature on this subject (e.g., Mansfield's (1961) study contains hypotheses concerning the influence of the size of the initial investment and profitability of adoption of a new innovation that may be easily interpreted in terms of expressions (4.30) and (4.32)]. Other representations of these hypotheses may be found in the extant literature, but a thorough testing of all the implications of this theory must await the collection of more complete data.

## V. THE IMPACT OF PERFORMANCE UNCERTAINTY ON NEW PRODUCT GROWTH

All results derived thus far have been obtained under the assumption that decision makers faced with the option of replacing existing equipment with the new durable good have perfect information concerning the time paths of the operating and maintenance costs of all future machines. Such information requires exact knowledge of the technological and performance characteristics of these machines and all future input prices (i.e., Terborgh's ghosts must be known with complete certainty). Clearly, this amount of information will not be available in practice, and, as a result, the potential adopter of a new durable good innovation will be forced to make the equipment replacement decision under conditions of imperfect information. In this section, we briefly examine the effects of new product performance uncertainty on the optimal age to replacement of existing equipment and, through this, the impact of imperfect information on the time path of new product growth.

## A. The Decision Maker's Objective Function Under Uncertainty

Our analysis of the replacement decision under uncertainty is conducted in an expected utility framework. This approach has its origins in the game theoretic work of von Neumann and Morgenstern (1944). Its subsequent adoption in the analysis of choices involving risk stems from the classic paper by Friedman and Savage (1948).

In the present context, we specify a utility function for the decision maker that is defined in terms of the present value of either profits (if the new innovation is a producer durable) or net value (if the new innovation is a consumer durable). In either case, the argument of the decision maker's utility function is assumed to be given by

$$\pi = \int_{0}^{T} V(t)Q(t)e^{-rt}dt - \tilde{C}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where V(t) is interpreted as either the per unit output price (for producer durables) or the per unit implicit value (for consumer durables) at time t, and Q(t) is the quantity of output produced by the durable good at time t. Thus, the first term on the right-hand side of expression (5.1) is the discounted total revenue or total value of the

output stream from the durable good over the O,T planning horizon. The second term on the right-hand side,  $\tilde{C}$ , is defined as

$$\widetilde{C} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r \sum_{i=1}^{i-1} \widetilde{t}_{i}^{*}} \left[ F_{i} + \int_{0}^{1} c_{i}(t,\mu_{i}) e^{-rt} dt \right] \right\}, \quad (5.2)$$

where the  $\mu_i$ , i = 1,...,n, are independently distributed random variables with associated densities  $f_i(\mu_i)$  that describe the decision maker's subjective probability distributions over the uncertain operating and maintenance costs of all future machines. The  $\tilde{t}_i^*$ , i = 1,...,n, are the optimal ages to replacement of the n machines in the sequence, and all other variables are defined as in the preceding section of this report. Thus,  $\tilde{C}$  represents the present value of the total costs of production over the 0,T planning horizon, which is now random because of the uncertainty surrounding the performance characteristics of future machines. Given this randomness in  $\tilde{C}$ ,  $\pi$  will also be random.

We shall refer to  $\pi$  as the discounted net value function and assume that the individual charged with the responsibility for making the replacement decision has a von Neumann-Morgenstern utility function that is given by

$$U = U(\pi),$$
 (5.3)

where this function is assumed to be smooth and twice differentiable, with U' > 0 and U'  $\frac{2}{5}$  0 (where U' denotes the first derivative of U with respect to  $\pi$ ).

As shown by Friedman and Savage (1948), the behavior of the individual decision maker in an uncertain environment is determined by the shape of this utility function. If this function is concave, as in Figure 5.1, the individual is said to be risk averse. Such an individual will refuse all actuarially fair gambles, because the increment in utility from a gain in discounted net value from  $E(\pi)$  to  $\pi_2$  is less than the decrement in utility suffered from an equivalent loss in discounted net value from  $E(\pi)$  to  $\pi_1$ . In general, concavity of the utility function implies that  $U[E(\pi)] > E[U(\pi)]$ , which, in turn, implies a willingness to pay some positive amount for the opportunity to exchange an uncertain



Fig. 5.1. The utility function of a risk-averse individual.

outcome with a given expected net value, say  $E(\pi)$ , for a certain outcome with a known net value equal to that expected net value. The maximum amount that the individual is willing to pay for the avoidance of the risky situation is referred to as a "risk premium," which we denote by  $\rho$ , and is given in the graph by

$$\rho = E(\pi) - z > 0, \qquad (5.4)$$

where

$$z = U^{-1} \{ E[U(\pi)] \}.$$
 (5.5)

In contrast, convexity of the utility function implies a willingness to pay for the opportunity to exchange a certain outcome for an uncertain outcome with equivalent expected value and, hence, a negative risk premium (i.e.,  $\rho < 0$ ). Individuals characterized by such a utility function are said to have a preference for risk.

And finally, linearity of the utility function implies indifference between a certain outcome and an uncertain outcome with the same expected value, which, in turn, implies a  $\rho = 0$ . Such individuals are said to be risk neutral.

The individual's attitude toward risk is, therefore, reflected in the sign of the second derivative of U with respect to  $\pi$ , with  $U^{\neq} < 0$ implying risk aversion,  $U^{\neq} = 0$  implying risk neutrality, and  $U^{\neq} > 0$ implying a preference for risk. As will be seen below, these alternative attitudes toward risk are important in determining the individual's behavior regarding the timing of equipment replacements in the presence of uncertainty.

In deterministic microeconomic theory, the decision maker is assumed to maximize profit (in the theory of the firm) or utility (in the theory of demand). Under uncertainty, however, profit and/or utility is random; and, consequently, the appropriate objective function becomes the expected value of the utility of profit or net value. Therefore, we assume that potential adopters of a new durable good innovation make their equipment replacement decisions in a manner consistent with the maximization of

$$E[U(\pi)] = E\left[U\left(\int_{0}^{T} V(t)Q(t)e^{-rt}dt\right) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r\sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \tilde{t}_{j}^{*}} \left[F_{i} + \int_{0}^{\tilde{t}_{i}^{*}} c_{i}(t,\mu_{i})e^{-rt}dt\right] \right\} \right].$$
(5.6)

The following section examines the implications of such behavior for the optimal timing of equipment replacements.

## B. The Optimal Age to Replacement

. . . .

Assuming that the new durable good is introduced on the market during the operating lifetime of the ith machine in the sequence so that the subscript i refers to the installed equipment and i + 1 refers to the new product that is to replace it, the optimal age to replacement is determined by finding a value for  $\tilde{t}_i^*$  that maximizes  $E[U(\pi)]$  over the remainder of the 0,T planning horizon. Since the operating and maintenance costs of the installed equipment are observable at each point in time, the random term,  $\mu_i$ , is assumed to disappear in the variable cost function of the equipment in place. Then, the first-order condition necessary for the maximization of the expected utility of net value is given by setting

$$\frac{\partial E[U(\pi)]}{\partial \tilde{t}_{i}^{*}} = E\left[U^{\prime}e^{-r\tilde{t}_{i}^{*}}\left(-c_{i}(\tilde{t}_{i}^{*}) + r\sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{e^{-r\sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1}\tilde{t}_{k}^{*}}\right|F_{j}\right] + \int_{0}^{\tilde{t}_{j}^{*}}c_{j}(t,\mu_{j})e^{-rt}dt\right]\right\}\right)$$

$$(5.7)$$

-rt\* equal to zero. Doing so, dividing through by e <sup>i</sup>, and rearranging yields

$$E(U')\left[-c_{i}(\tilde{t}_{i}^{*}) + r\sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r\sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} \tilde{t}_{k}^{*}} e^{k=i+1} F_{j} \right\} \right]$$

$$+ rE\left[(U')\left(\sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r\sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} \tilde{t}_{k}^{*}} \int_{0}^{\tilde{t}_{j}^{*}} c_{j}(t,\mu_{j})e^{-rt}dt \right\} \right) \right] = 0.$$
(5.8)

Then, since the expectation of the product of two random variables is equal to the product of the expectations of these variables plus the covariance between them, this expression may be rewritten as

$$c_{i}(\tilde{t}_{i}^{*}) = r \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r \sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} \tilde{t}_{k}^{*}} \left[ F_{j} + E \left( \int_{0}^{\tilde{t}_{j}^{*}} c_{j}(t,\mu_{j}) e^{-rt} dt \right) + \frac{cov\left( U^{*}, \int_{0}^{\tilde{t}_{j}^{*}} c_{j}(t,\mu_{j}) e^{-rt} dt \right)}{E(U^{*})} \right] \right\}.$$
(5.9)

This expression represents the uncertainty equivalent to equation (4.13) of the preceding chapter and provides the optimum decision rule for equipment replacements when the performance characteristics of future machines are uncertain.

The condition states that the existing equipment should be replaced with the new innovation at that point in time at which the variable costs of production using the installed machine has risen to equality with the discount rate times the discounted sum of the capital costs and expected life-cycle variable costs of all future machines plus the covariances between the marginal utility of net value and the discounted life-cycle variable costs of these future machines divided by the expectation of the marginal utility of net value. More simply, the condition states that the decision maker should delay the replacement of existing equipment until the marginal cost of further delay is equal to the marginal opportunity cost of immediate replacement, where the latter now includes an additional factor that reflects the decision maker's subjective valuation of the riskiness of the performance of future machines.

Solving equation (5.9) for the optimal age to replacement, we have

$$\widetilde{t}_{i}^{*} = c_{i}^{-1} \left\langle r_{j=i+1}^{n} \left\{ e^{-r \sum_{k=i+1}^{j-1} \widetilde{t}_{k}^{*}} \left[ F_{j} + E \left( \int_{0}^{\widetilde{t}_{j}^{*}} c_{j}(t,\mu_{j}) e^{-rt} dt \right) + \frac{cov \left( \bigcup_{j=0}^{\tau} \int_{0}^{\tau} c_{j}(t,\mu_{j}) e^{-rt} dt \right)}{E(U^{\tau})} \right] \right\rangle$$

$$(5.10)$$

which is the uncertainty analog of equation (4.14) of the preceding section. From this expression, we can see that the impact of new product performance uncertainty on the timing of equipment replacements depends upon the signs and magnitudes of the additional terms involving the covariances between the marginal utility of discounted net value and the discounted life-cycle variable costs of future machines. The signs of these additional terms depend, in turn, upon the decision maker's attitude toward risk.

Since the denominator of these additional terms (the expectation of the marginal utility of discounted net value) is positive by assumption, the overall signs will be the same as the signs of the covariance terms in the numerators. If the decision maker is risk averse (i.e., if  $U^{2} < 0$ , these covariances will be positive. This is because increases in the discounted life-cycle variable costs of future machines will lead to decreases in discounted net value, which, with a concave utility function, will lead to increases in the marginal utility of discounted net value. By an analogous argument, these covariance terms will be negative if the decision maker exhibits a preference for risk (i.e., if  $U^{2} > 0$ ) and zero if she is risk neutral (i.e., if  $U^{2} = 0$ ). Given this relationship between the signs of the covariance terms and the decision maker's attitude toward risk, we can see from equation (5.10) that, in the presence of uncertainty, the optimal age to replacement of existing equipment will be higher than (lower than) (the same as) in the deterministic case examined in the preceding chapter if the individual exhibits risk aversion (risk preference) (risk neutrality).

This result provides a utility interpretation of the descriptive classifications often found in the literature (e.g., Bass, 1969) wherein individuals adopting new goods are categorized into an arbitrary number of groups depending upon the timing of their adoption decisions (e.g., early adopters, late adopters, laggards, etc.). Here, we can see that, for a given age of existing capital equipment in place at the time the new product is introduced, risk preferring individuals will be the first to install the new durable good, with risk neutral individuals following next and risk averse individuals adopting last. Thus, prior classificatory schemes may be viewed as segmentations of the continuum of risk premiums that exist in the population at large.

### C. The Effect of Uncertainty on the Market Penetration Function

If there exists a distribution of risk preferences in the population of potential adopters of a new innovation, we should then expect to observe a time path of cumulative replacements that exhibits much the same shape as that generated in the preceding chapter even in the absence of any variation in the ages of installed equipment. Therefore, such a distribution is a sufficient condition for the generation of market penetration functions that correspond to the traditional functions employed in the literature on diffusion.

Given both a distribution of ages of installed capital equipment and a distribution of attitudes toward risk, the diffusion path that is generated will reflect a combination of the two effects, and the relative importance of each will vary from one innovation to another depending upon the technological, economic, and informational forces at work. This multiplicity of possible explanations of observed behavior creates an identification problem that may be quite difficult to sort out empirically.

The extent to which this composite market penetration function will differ from that described in the preceding chapter depends upon the decision makers' risk preferences and the extent of perceived uncertainty surrounding the performance of future machines. Assume that the subjective probability distributions over the discounted life-cycle variable costs of future machines are identical across all individuals. Then, if

all individuals have identical and concave utility functions (i.e., if everyone is identically risk averse),  $\tilde{t}_i^* > t_i^*$  and  $\tilde{P}(t) < P(t)$ , where P(t) denotes the market penetration function that incorporates the influence of new product performance uncertainty, so that the effect of incorporating uncertainty is to shift the penetration function downward by some fixed amount at each point in time. If, on the other hand, all individuals have identical and convex utility functions (i.e., if everyone is a risk taker),  $\tilde{t}_i^* > t_i^*$  and  $\tilde{P}(t) > P(t)$ , so that the opposite effect occurs. If, on the other hand, some individuals have a convex utility function while others have a concave utility function or if individuals differ in their perceptions of the  $f_i(\mu_i)$  distributions, • • •  $\tilde{P}(t)$  will lie above P(t) over the early part of its range and below it over the latter part of its range. Finally, if, as often postulated in past studies of diffusion, the degree of uncertainty surrounding the performance of future machines is reduced with cumulative aggregate experience (i.e., if the variances of the  $f_i(\mu_i)$  distributions decline over time), then  $\tilde{P}(t)$  will approach P(t) over time, and the impact of uncertainty on market share growth will erode with cumulative experience.

Thus, the introduction of uncertainty in the presence of nonlinear risk preferences can shift the market penetration function in a variety of ways. And, since utility functions are not observable, it is impossible to directly incorporate the effects of uncertainty in forecasts of new product growth. It is conceptually feasible, however, to separate the effects of uncertainty from the deterministic causes of new product growth for those innovations for which complete historical data are available. By forecasting the growth path of a new durable good on the basis of the model presented in the preceding chapter and comparing the predicted path with the actual, one can (in theory) isolate the influence of uncertainty from the deterministic elements involved in the growth process. In this fashion, a rough idea of the qualitative direction and quantitative significance of the effects of imperfect information on the growth of new products can be gained. If sufficient data are available to carry out this exercise for a variety of innovations, one could then proceed to model the uncertainty component of the process separately, incorporating such factors as advertising, demonstrations, product

complexity, etc., in an attempt to develop a forecasting tool that could be applied in conjunction with the deterministic model to generate predictions of the composite market penetration function. The data requirements of such an exercise, however, are not likely to be met.

In the absence of an explicit model of the uncertainty component of the diffusion process, one is left with two equally unattractive alternatives for empirical implementation of the model. The first is to assume that decision makers possess perfect information or, equivalently, possess unbiased information and are risk neutral and proceed on the basis of the deterministic model derived in the preceding chapter. The second is to make *ad hoc* adjustments in the value of  $t_1^*$  in order to reflect the potential effects of uncertainty. Clearly, both of these options are less than satisfactory. But, until a structural model of the uncertainty component becomes available, such approaches will be unavoidable.

#### VI. SOME SIMULATION RESULTS

As with any theory of behavior, there exists a variety of empirical tests that may be used to verify the adequacy of the above model of durable good diffusion. Such tests include: (1) the performance of simple simulations of the model in the absence of actual data in order to compare the implied responses of the dependent variable to variations in the values of the structural components with prior information and expectations; (2) the prediction of past events for which complete data are available in order to examine the forecasting performance of the model; and (3) statistical testing of the causal hypotheses that are implied by the model (such as those derived in Section IV above). Because of data, time, and space limitations, however, we subject the model only to the first (and least demanding) of these tests at the present time.

The penetration function given in equation (4.19) was simulated under the assumptions that the capital stock in the adopting sector grows over time at an exponential rate and that the age structure of the existing stock of equipment in place at  $t_0$  is distributed lognormally.<sup>32</sup> Thus, it was assumed that

$$K(t) = K(t_0) e^{\delta t}$$
, (6.1)

where  $\delta$  is the rate of growth of the capital stock over time, and

$$f_{t_0}(A) = \frac{1}{A\sigma \sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2\sigma^2} (\log A - \mu)^2\right\} dA, \qquad (6.2)$$

where  $\mu$  and  $\sigma^2$  are the mean and variance of the corresponding normal distribution of the variate Y = log A.

Under these assumptions, the penetration function given in equation (4.19) becomes

$$P(t) = 1 - \left[1 - \int_{t_{i}^{*}-t}^{A_{u}} \frac{1}{A\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2\sigma^{2}}(\log A - \mu)^{2}\right\} dA = e^{-\delta t}, \quad (6.3)$$

where  $A_0$  is the age of the oldest machine in the capital stock at  $t_0$ .<sup>33</sup> Equation (6.3) was simulated for two values of  $\mu$ , two values of  $\delta$ ,

and two values of  $t_i^*$ , yielding a total of eight separate penetration functions. These functions, along with their two associated age distributions are shown in Figs. 6.1-6.10.

Clearly, the overall behavior of P(t) in these simulations conforms well with the descriptive functions encountered in existing empirical studies of market penetration. In addition, we observe the expected influences of changes in: the age distribution of the existing equipment; the growth rate of the capital stock in the adopting sector; and the optimal age to replacement of the old technology machines. Comparison of Fig. 6.2 with Fig. 6.7, Fig. 6.3 with Fig. 6.8, Fig. 6.4 with Fig. 6.9, and Fig. 6.5 with Fig. 6.10 demonstrates the retarding influence on new product growth of a concentration of recently installed equipment in the adopting sector. Comparison of Fig. 6.2 with Fig. 6.3, Fig. 6.4 with Fig. 6.5, Fig. 6.7 with Fig. 6.8, and Fig. 6.9 with Fig. 6.10 demonstrates the positive effect of overall sector growth on market penetration. And comparison of Fig. 6.2 with Fig. 6.4, Fig. 6.3 with Fig. 6.5, Fig. 6.7 with Fig. 6.9, and Fig. 6.8 with Fig. 6.10 shows the marked impact of variations in the optimal age to replacement (which, from the above analysis, must be due to variations in the cost characteristics of the new innovation or the equipment it is designed to replace.

Although these simple simulation exercises are lacking in explicit empirical content and, consequently, cannot provide the verification required for complete acceptance of the above modeling approach, they do demonstrate the kinds of results that can be generated and suggest a broad agreement with prior empirical studies on the subject. In addition, they lend support to the comparative static results derived in Section IV.E above. Further verification will have to involve empirical testing of derived hypotheses combined with examination of forecating results for those innovations for which historical data exist and is, unfortunately, beyond the scope of this report.









Fig. 6.2. Market penetration function with  $t_i^* = 16$ ,  $\delta = 0.05$ ,  $f_{t_0}(A)$  as shown in Fig. 6.1.



ORNL-DWG 79-15524 1.0 0.8 0.6 P(T) 0.4 0.2 0 8 T 2 6. 10 0 4 ° 12 14 16





ORNL-DWG 79-15522









Fig. 6.5. Market penetration function with  $t_i^* = 10$ ,  $\delta = 0$ ,  $f_{t_0}(A)$  as shown in Fig. 6.1.







Fig. 6.7. Market penetration function with  $t_i^* = 16$ ,  $\delta = 0.05$ , and  $f_{t_0}(A)$  as shown in Fig. 6.6.









Fig. 6.9. Market penetration function with  $t_i^* = 10$ ,  $\delta = 0.05$ , and  $f_{t_0}(A)$  as shown in Fig. 6.6.



Fig. 6.10. Market penetration function with  $t_i^* = 10$ ,  $\delta = 0$ , and  $f_{t_0}(A)$  as shown in Fig. 6.6.

58.

## VII. CONCLUSION

Using the assumption of dynamic cost minimization on the part of potential users of a new durable good, we have derived a model of the market penetration process that exhibits two important advantages over existing diffusion studies. First, the model is operational in the absence of historical data on the actual market experience of the new good in question and is capable of approximating any of the traditional functional forms employed in previous studies to represent observed time paths of market share growth. Given engineering estimates of the cost characteristics of an emerging product, an exogenous estimate of anticipated growth in the adopting sector or industry, and observations on the age distribution and cost characteristics of the existing stock of equipment, the model can forecast the time path of short-run equilibrium market shares for a new product that has not yet appeared on the market. This capability, lacking in previous models, is crucial to the analysis of optimal commercialization and investment decisions concerning frontier technologies for which market data are not yet available.

Second, the theoretical approach developed here contains explicit causal relationships that lead to a variety of testable hypotheses. The inequalities given in expressions (4.24), (4.30), and (4.32) represent such hypotheses, and some of these have already received empirical support in the published literature on market penetration. This structural approach to the analysis of new product growth is additionally attractive in that it facilitates the detailed examination of the impacts of alternative policy measures designed to encourage rapid diffusion of new innovations. For example, market penetration might be accelerated through the use of an investment tax credit for the purchase and installation expense of adopting the new durable good. The impact of such a credit is to reduce the initial capital cost of the new innovation,  $F_{i+1}$ , which, in turn, leads to a reduction in the optimal lifetime of installed equipment,  $t_i^*$ , which, in turn, leads to an accelerated rate of replacement investment, R(t), which finally translates into an increased level of market penctration, P(t). Other policies such as fuel taxes, loan guarantees, maintenance subsidies, etc., can also be incorporated

in the model, and the explicit channels of causation through which they can be expected to operate can be clearly defined.

Despite these advantages over existing studies, there obviously remains much work of both a theoretical and empirical nature in the modeling of new product growth. Some of the more fruitful areas for future research appear to be: (1) including an explicit treatment of the long-run equilibrium market share;<sup>34</sup> (2) making both supply side adjustments and capital stock growth in the adopting sector endogenous to the model; and (3) thorough empirical validation of both the implied hypotheses and derived forecasts. Without minimizing the importance of such future refinements, the present model must stand on its theoretical and practical appeal as a methodology for both explaining and predicting the time path of diffusion of durable good innovations.

### FOOTNOTES

- 1. The list of references provided with this paper represents a partial bibliography of this literature. A review of these and related studies is provided in Hurter *et al.* (1978).
- 2. This basic lack of a theoretical construct has not escaped the notice of others working in this area. See, e.g., Sahal (1976, p. 242).
- 3. Blackman *et al.* (1973) develop a methodology that greatly reduces the historical data requirements for implementing the logistic penetration model. But in the absence of a theoretically justifiable technique for choosing from among the various potential market penetration functions (the exponential, the logistic, or the skewed S-shape) on the basis of information available prior to the introduction of the new innovation, the need for such data will remain.
- 4. This hypothesis is often dismissed out of hand for households with the argument that the initial cost of an investment is weighted much more heavily than the operating cost component of discounted average total costs. This argument is specious, however, because, to the extent that operating costs are considered at all, such observed behavior simply implies a high rate of discount.
- 5. The modified exponential function has been employed in Fourt and Woodlock (1960), Kelly (1967), and Perry *et al.* (1967). Also, the function employed in Bass (1969) is approximately exponential for certain parameter values.
- 6. If one is able to observe the entire diffusion process from the time the new product is introduced until the upper limit of penetration is attained, then the sample may be restricted to that portion of the market that eventually adopts the new innovation. In that case, L = 1 and the problem of estimating the dependent variable is climinated. See Mansfield (1961).
- 7. The logistic penetration function has been the most widely used form in the literature. Studies incorporating the logistic function include: Griliches (1957), Mansfield (1961, 1963), Bain (1962), Haines (1964), Blackman (1971, 1972, 1974), Fisher and Pry (1971), Romeo (1975), Globerman (1975), and Stern ot al. (1975).

- 8. Mansfield (1961) arrives at the logistic penetration function by a different route. Dealing with industrial innovations, he expresses the probability that the innovation will be adopted in period t by firms that had not adopted it in period t-1 as a function of: (1) the proportion of firms that have already introduced the new product in period t-1, (2) the profitability of adopting the new innovation, (3) the size of the investment required to incorporate the new product in the production process, and (4) other unspecified variables. Then, taking a Taylor series expansion of this function and assuming that the coefficients of the second and higher order terms in the proportion of previous adopters are zero, a difference equation is obtained to which the logistic provides an approximation.
- 9. This feature may be seen by inspection of the second derivative of P(t) with respect to t. From (2.4),

$$\frac{d^2 P(t)}{dt^2} = a \frac{dP(t)}{dt} [L - 2P(t)],$$

which equals zero at P(t) = L/2. Thus, the point of inflection occurs here.

- A skewed S-shaped penetration function is employed in Bain (1963), Lekvall and Wahlbin (1973), and Lerviks (1976).
- 11. The Gompertz curve achieves its maximum rate of growth at P(t) = 0.37 L.
- 12. See Cattell (1948). In addition, in a world of imperfect information, the greater the profitability of a given innovation the more likely it is that potential users will perceive the benefits of adopting the new product at any given moment in time. This rationale is, in turn, related to the statistical result that the larger the actual difference between two population means, the smaller the sample size required to discern a significant difference. See Griliches (1957, p. 516).
- 13. See Mansfield (1961, pp. 746-747). For an analysis demonstrating why the per unit cost of capital should be an increasing function of the amount borrowed, see Smith (1971).
- 14. Obviously, with a sample of only 12 innovations, degrees of freedom difficulties limit the number of variables that may be included simultaneously.

15. The inconclusive nature of some of these results may be due to simple data limitations. For example, if, instead of adding d. to equation (2.10) as Mansfield does, we substitute it for S<sub>ij</sub>, w<sup>j</sup> obtain the following results:

$$\hat{a}_{ij} = \begin{cases} .28\\ .55\\ .54\\ .56 \end{cases} + .526 \pi_{ij} - .002 d_{ij}, r = .997, \\ (.016)^{ij} (.001)^{ij} + .597, \end{cases}$$

. ....

which provide approximately equivalent empirical support for this alternative model in terms of both goodness of fit and significance of coefficient estimates. Hence, the relatively poor results obtained by incorporating both  $S_{ij}$  and  $d_{ij}$  simultaneously may be attributable to multicollinearity and/or small sample problems.

- 16. Those studies that have not restricted their sample to this group have provided only *ad hoc* procedures for estimating the upper limit market share of a new good. Griliches (1957) crudely estimates the value of L in equation (2.6) by plotting P(t) on logistic graph paper and varying L until the resulting graph is approximately linear. Similarly, Bundgaard-Nielsen (1976) varies L until the residual sum of squares from estimating equation (2.6) is minimized. Romeo (1975) simply assumes a particular value for L. Given the importance of this parameter in determining the overall success of a new product, the degree of attention devoted to its estimation in the diffusion literature is surprising.
- 17. Sahal (1976, p. 242) points out this problem, "It is easy to obtain good *ex post factum* fit to the data on diffusion of technology by means of one or the other form of an S-shaped growth curve. However, the value of such a model is limited. Insofar as it sheds little light on the nature of the underlying mechanism, it is a trivial restatement of facts. The postulate that diffusion of technology envinces an S-shaped pattern is concluded to be inherently unsuitable for *ex ante* prediction unless there is a *priori* justification for choosing a specific form from a wide variety of S-shaped curves that would be appropriate. However, a framework for choosing an appropriate functional form at an early stage in the process of diffusion is lacking."
- 18. Blackman et al. (1973) investigate inter-industry variations in  $\beta_{10}$  using a factor analysis approach to obtain an "innovation index" for various industrial sectors. This index is then correlated with estimated values of  $\beta_{10}$  to provide a practical method for forecasting the penctration function of a new innovation in the absence of an adequate historical data base relating to observed market experience of that innovation. This approach, however, serves only to substitute the problem of obtaining prior estimates of the value of the index for the problem of obtaining prior estimates of  $\beta_{10}$ . In addition, it assumes that all innovations will follow the logistic pattern of growth.
- 19. This stock measure of market share as an indicator of the extent of diffusion is used extensively in the studies reported in Nabseth and Ray (1974).
- 20. Griliches (1957) employed this assumption as have most others writing on the subject of diffusion. Peterka (1977) is the primary exception to this rule. According to Nelson *et al.* (1967, p. 105), "Where buyers stand willing and ready, the pace of diffusion clearly is limited by supply factors. But when the growth of demand takes time, as in most cases that have been studied, there is little evidence that bottlenecks on the supply side have been important."
- 21. See Bain (1962, 1963), Blackman (1971, 1972), Fisher and Pry (1971), Mansfield (1961, 1963a), Oster and Quigley (1977), Peterka (1977), and Stern *et al.* (1975). Empirically, this assumption may be justified by restricting the sample to the set of potential users that eventually adopt the given innovation. Also, inasmuch as upper limit market shares that are less than one must, in theory, be generated by a stable cross-sectional variation while the time path of diffusion must have its source in some form of temporal variation, the two phenomena are analytically separable.
- 22. Salter (1966, p. 63) emphasized the role of gross investment in translating technical change into productivity gains: "Without gross investment, improving technology that requires new capital equipment simply represents a potential for higher productivity; to realize this potential requires gross investment."
- 23. At the aggregate level, the annual rate of replacement investment generally exceeds the rate of investment due to market expansion. See Feldstein and Rothschild (1974).
- 24. The subject of optimal replacement or retirement policy is an old one in the economics literature. See, e.g., Hayek (1941), Hotelling (1925), Lutz and Lutz (1951), and Preinreich (1938, 1940). The implications of this body of theory for the diffusion of innovations, however, has never been fully explored, although David (1969), Mansfield (1961), and Salter (1966) have intimated that such a connection exists.
- 25. See Feldstein and Rothschild (1974) for a taxonomy of the various types of cost increases that may provide an incentive for equipment replacement decisions.

.

. .

- 26. If equipment deterioration follows a "one hoss shay" pattern wherein variable costs remain constant over time until the machine suddenly collapses in a heap of worthless scrap, the replacement timing decision may become trivial. With changing prices and technology, however, variable costs can increase in a continuous fashion even with such discontinuous physical deterioration. Also, a discontinuous jump in variable cost can be closely approximated by a continuous monotonically increasing curve that exhibits a pronounced convexity. Thus, the assumption that c<sub>i</sub>(t) is monotonically increasing does not represent a very serious restriction on the applicability of the model.
- 27. At first blush, one might think that the discounted life cycle costs of operation using the new technology equipment would have to be below the discounted life cycle costs of operation using the old technology equipment for the new innovation to be chosen. This, however, is not the case. Due to the potential difference between the optimal replacement ages  $t_i^*$  and  $t_{i+1}^*$ , it is entirely possible

 $\begin{array}{c} t_{i+1} & t_{i}^{\star} \\ \text{for } F_{i+1} + \int_{0}^{t} c_{i+1}(t) e^{-rt} dt \geq F_{i} + \int_{0}^{t} c_{i}(t) e^{-rt} dt \text{ to hold and} \\ \text{have the new technology machines represent the discounted cost} \\ \text{minimizing choice over a given planning horizon if } t_{i+1} \geq t_{i}^{\star}. \\ \text{Investment alternatives must be normalized to a common investment} \\ \text{period before any conclusions can be reached concerning the discounted cost} \\ \text{minimizing choice. See Mishan (1976).} \end{array}$ 

- 28. For simplicity, we have assumed that the new durable good is superior in all potential applications. In practice, however, a technological advancement that is embodied in a piece of durable equipment may be cost effective in only a fraction of the potential applications because of scale considerations. See David (1969). In that case, the long-run equilibrium market share will be less than one, and the model derived here can be applied to that portion of the market that will eventually adopt the new innovations.
- 29. If prices, technology, and output have remained stable prior to the introduction of the new innovation, there will exist no machines of age greater than  $t_{i-1}^*$ , and the  $f_{t_0}(A)$  distribution may be confined to the 0, $t_{i-1}^*$  closed interval. In general, however, it is not necessary to impose this restriction since the distribution is observable at time  $t_0$ .
- 30. Note that, in general, G(t) = 0 implies P(t) = R(t). Thus, for durable good innovations that are adopted by sectors experiencing zero growth in the stock of installed equipment, the market share growth will follow the time path of cumulative percentage replacements. For sectors experiencing positive growth in the stock of installed equipment, G(t) > 0, it can easily be shown using (4.8) that P(t) > R(t).

- 31. This capability of generating forecasts that are both derived from an explicit microeconomic theory of potential user optimization and implemented in the absence of historical data on the market experience of the new product represents a significant improvement over existing models of market penetration. Furthermore, the time path of market share growth generated by expression (4.20) can assume any of the traditional shapes employed in empirical diffusion studies (i.e., the exponential, the logistic, or the skewed sigmoid) depending upon the values of the component variables.
- 32. These two assumptions are both analytically convenient and empirically relevant. The exponential pattern of growth generates a constant percentage rate of growth and appears to correspond to a number of actual growth processes. The lognormal distribution is convenient because it is confined to the positive real line (age cannot be negative) and also appears to fit a variety of economic variables (e.g., income and firm size). See Aitchison and Brown (1969) for a complete discussion of the properties and applications of the lognormal distribution.
- 33. The distribution  $f_{t_0}(A)$  was truncated at  $A_0 = 14$  and normalized to

maintain the property that  $\int_{0}^{A_{0}} f_{t_{n}}(A) dA = 1$ .

34. Analysis of the long-run equilibrium market share of a new product has received some attention outside the traditional diffusion literature. See, e.g., McFadden (1976) and Hausman (1979). These studies making use of a discrete choice modeling approach, however, have not been integrated with the dynamic models of diffusion that are concerned with the time-dependent series of short-run equilibria.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors express appreciation to Roger Blair, Roger Carlsmith, Zvi Griliches, Jerry Hausman, Takashi Takayama, Richard Tepel, and John Trimble for helpful comments on a previous draft of the report. In addition, Janet Carney developed the computer programs utilized in the simulations. All of the above must share some of the credit but none of the blame for the contents of this report.

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abernathy, W. J. and Utterback, J. M., "Patterns of Industrial Innovation," *Technology Review*, Vol. 80 (June/July 1978), pp. 41-47.
- Aitchison, J. and Brown, J. A. C., The Lognormal Distribution with Special Reference to Its Uses in Economics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 1969.
- An Analysis of Market Penetration of Selected Energy-Efficient Appliances, Center for Energy Systems, General Electric Company, Final Report, Contract No. EC-77-C-01-2164, Division of Buildings and Community Systems, Department of Energy, November 1977.
- Arrow, K. J., "Classificatory Notes on the Production and Transmission of Technological Knowledge," American Economic Review, Vol. 59, (May 1969), pp. 29-35.
- Arrow, K. J., "Economic Welfare and the Allocation of Resources for Invention," in *Rate and Direction of Innovative Activity*, National Bureau of Economic Research, 1962.
- Arthur D. Little, Inc., An Analysis of the Market Development of Dispersed Usage Solar Energy Systems, Draft Report to the Federal Energy Administration, March 1976.
- Ayres, R. U. and Shapanka, A., "Explicit Technological Substitution Forecasts in Long-Range Input-Output Models," in *Technological* Substitution: Forecasting Techniques and Applications, Harold A. Linstone and Devendra Sahal, eds., American Elsevier Publishing Company, New York, 1976.
- Bain, A. D., "The Growth of Television Ownership in the United Kingdom," International Economic Review, Vol. 3 (May 1962), pp. 145-167.
- Bain, A. D., "The Growth of Demand for New Commodities," Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series A, Vol. 126 (1963), pp. 285-299.
- Baron, D. P., "Price Uncertainty, Utility, and Industry Equilibrium in Pure Competition," International Economic Review, Vol. 11 (October 1970), pp. 463-480.
- Bass, F. M., "A New Product Growth Model for Consumer Durables," Management Science, Vol. 15 (January 1969), pp. 215-227.
- Beardsley, G. and Mansfield, E., "A Note on the Accuracy of Industrial Forecasts of the Profitability of New Products and Processes," *Journal of Business*, Vol. 51 (January 1978), pp. 127-135.

- Berkson, J., "A Statistically Precise and Relatively Simple Method of Estimating the Bio-Assay with Quantal Response, Based on the Logistic Function," Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 48 (September 1953), pp. 565-599.
- Blackman, A. W., Jr., "The Rate of Innovation in the Commercial Aircraft Jet Engine Market," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 2 (1971), pp. 269-276.
- Blackman, A. W., Jr., "A Mathematical Model for Trend Forecasts," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 3 (1972), pp. 441-452.
- Blackman, A. W., Jr., "The Market Dynamics of Technological Substitutions," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 6 (1974), pp. 41-63.
- Blackman, A. W., Jr., Seligman, E. J., and Sogliero, G. C., "An Innovation Index Based on Factor Analysis," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 4 (1973), pp. 301-316.
- Blaug, M., "A Survey of the Theory of Process-Innovations," Economica, Vol. 30 (February 1963), pp. 13-32.
- Booz-Allen and Hamilton, Inc., Management of New Products, 1960.
- Brandner, L. and Strauss, M. A., "Congruence versus Profitability in the Diffusion of Hybrid Sorghum," *Rural Sociology*, Vol. 24 (1959), pp. 381-383.
- Brozen, Y., "Invention, Innovation, and Imitation," American Economic Review, Vol. 41 (May 1951), pp. 239-257.
- Bundgaard-Nielson, M., "The International Diffusion of New Technology," Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Vol. 9 (1976), pp. 365-370.
- Bush, L. R. et al., Solar Total Energy Systems: Second Technical Progress Report, Aerospace Corporation Report, No. ATR-77(7692-01)-2.
- Caplan, B., "The Premature Abandonment of Machinery," *Review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 7 (February 1940), pp. 113-122.
- Carter, A. P., "The Economics of Technological Change," Scientific American, Vol. 214 (April 1966), pp. 25-31.
- Cattell, J. M., "The Influence of the Intensity of the Stimulus on the Length of the Reaction Time," in *Readings in the History of Psychology*, Wayne Dennis, ed., Appleton-Century-Crofts, Inc., New York, 1948. Original paper published in *Brain*, Vol. 8 (1885), pp. 512-515.

- Charles River Associates Incorporated, Methodology for Predicting the Demand for New Electricity-Using Goods, EPRI EA-593, Project 488-1, December 1977.
- Cima, F., Campioni, G., and Gianisi, P., "S Forecasting Model for the Market of Competitive Products," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 5 (1973), pp. 51-65.
- Coleman, J. S., Introduction to Mathematical Sociology, The Free Press of Glencoe, London, 1964, Chapt. 17.
- Cox, D. R., Renewal Theory, Methuen and Company, Ltd., London, 1962.
- David, P. A., A Contribution to the Theory of Diffusion, Memorandum No. 71, Research Center in Economic Growth, Stanford University, 1969.
- Diewert, W. E., "Intertemporal Consumer Theory and the Demand for Durables," *Econometrica*, Vol. 42 (May 1974), pp. 497-516.
- Dodd, S. C., "Diffusion is Predictable: Testing Probability Models for Laws of Interaction," American Sociological Review, Vol. 20 (1955), pp. 392-401.
- Enos, J. L., "A Measure of the Rate of Technological Progress in the Petroleum Refining Industry," *Journal of Industrial Economics*, Vol. 6 (June 1958), pp. 180-197.
- Feldstein, M. S. and Rothschild, M., "Towards an Economic Theory of Replacement Investment," *Econometrica*, Vol. 42 (May 1974), pp. 393-423.
- Fishelson, G., "Empirical Estimations of the Rate of Commercialization of Energy Sources and Fuel Uses," in *The Methodology of Evaluating Research and Development Projects*, George S. Tolley, ed., Energy Research and Development Administration, Washington, D.C., June 1977.
- Fishelson, G., "Market Penetration: The Demand for Energy Storage Capacity, an Energy Substitution Model," in *The Methodology of Evaluating Research and Development Projects*, George S. Tolley, ed., Energy Research and Development Administration, Washington, D.C., June 1977.
- Fishelson, G. and Townsend, S., "Factors Affecting the Rate of Adoption of a New Technical Innovation: A Literature Review," in The Methodology of Evaluating Research and Development Projects, George S. Tolley, ed., Energy Research and Development Administration, Washington, D.C., June 1977.

- Fisher, J. C. and Pry, R H., "A Simple Substitution Model of Technological Change," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 3 (1971), pp. 75-88.
- Fourt, L. A. and Woodlock, J. W., "Early Prediction of Market Success for New Grocery Products," *Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 25 (1960), pp. 31-38.
- Frankel, M., "Obsolescence and Technological Change in a Maturing Economy," American Economic Review, Vol. 45 (June 1955), pp. 296-319.
- Friedman, M. and Savage, L. J., "The Utility Analysis of Choices Involving Risk," *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 56 (July-August 1948), pp. 279-304.
- Fuss, M. A., "The Structure of Technology Over Time: A Model for Testing the 'Putty-Clay' Hypothesis," *Econometrica*, Vol. 45 (November 1977), pp. 1797-1921.
- Gerstenfeld, A., "Technical Forecasting," Journal of Business, Vol. 44 (1971), pp. 10-18.
- Globerman, S., "Technological Diffusion in the Canadian Tool and Die Industry," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 57 (November 1975), pp. 428-434.
- Griliches, Z., "Hybrid Corn: An Exploration in the Economics of Technological Change," Econometrica, Vol. 25 (October 1975), pp. 501-52?
- Griliches, Z., "Research Costs and Social Returns: Hybrid Corn and Related Innovations," *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 16 (October 1958), pp. 419-431.
- Griliches, Z., "Hybrid Corn and the Economics of Innovation," Science, Vol. 132 (July 1960), pp. 275-280.
- Griliches, Z., "Congruence versus Profitability: A False Dichotomy," *Rural Sociology*, Vol. 25 (1960), pp. 354-356.
- Griliches, Z., "Profitability versus Interaction: Another False Dichotomy," *Rural Sociology*, Vol. 27 (1962), pp. 327-330.
- Haines, G. H., Jr., "A Theory of Market Behavior After Innovation," Management Science, Vol. 10 (July 1964), pp. 634-658.
- Hausman, J. A., "Individual Discount Rates and the Purchase and Utilization of Energy-Using Durables," *Bell Journal of Economics*, Vol. 10 (Spring 1979), pp. 33-54.

- Hausman, J. A. and Wise, D. A., "A Conditional Probit Model for Qualitative Choice: Discrete Decisions Recognizing Interdependence and Heterogeneous Preferences," *Econometrica*, Vol. 46 (March 1978), pp. 403-426.
- Havens, A. E. and Rogers, E. M., "Adoption of Hybrid Corn: Profitability and Interaction Effects," *Rural Sociology*, Vol. 26 (1961), pp. 409-414.
- Hayek, F. A., The Pure Theory of Capital, Routledge and Kegan Paul, Ltd., London, 1941.
- Horowitz, I., Decision Making and the Theory of the Firm, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc., New York, 1970.
- Hotelling, H., "A General Mathematical Theory of Depreciation," American Statistical Association Journal, Vol. 20 (1925), pp. 340-353.
- Hurter, A. P., Jr. and Rubenstein, A. H., with M. Bergman, J. Garvey, and J. Martinich, "Market Penetration by New Innovations: The Technological Literature," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 11 (1978), pp. 197-221.
- Institutional Applications of Solar Total Energy Systems, prepared by Resource Planning Associates, Inc., assisted by Intertechnology/ Solar Corporation, October 1977.
- Energy and Environmental Analysis, Inc., Industrial Sector Technology Use Model (ISTUM): Industrial Energy Use in the United States, 1974-2000, prepared for the Department of Energy, Washington, D.C., June 1978.
- Jorgenson, D. W., "Investment Behavior and the Production Function," Bell Journal of Economics and Management Science, Vol. 3 (Spring 1972), pp. 220-251.
- Kay, N., "Technological Forecasting--A Note," Journal of Business, Vol. 50 (April 1977), pp. 240-242.
- Kelly, R. F., "Estimating Ultimate Performance Levels of New Retail Outlets," Journal of Marketing Research, Vol. 4 (February 1967), pp. 13-19.
- Krumm, R. J., "An Econometric Model of Innovation," in The Methodology of Evaluating Research and Development Projects, George S. Tolley, ed., Energy Research and Development Administration, Washington, D.C., June 1977.
- Lancaster, K. J., "A New Approach to Consumer Theory," Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 74 (April 1966), pp. 132-157.

- Lancaster, K. J., Consumer Demand: A New Approach, Columbia University Press, New York, 1971.
- Lawrence, A. G. and Crow, R. T., "Technological Change and Transportation Energy Forecasting," Proceedings of Workshop on Long Run Energy Demand, Mitre Corporation, May 1977, pp. 193-209.
- Lekvall, P. and Wahlbin, C., "A Study of Some Assumptions Underlying Innovation Diffusion Functions," Swedish Journal of Economics, Vol. 75 (1973), pp. 362-377.
- Lerviks, A. E., "A Diffusion Model for New Consumer Durables," Scandinavian Journal of Economics, Vol. 78 (1976), pp. 571-586.
- Lutz, F. A. and Lutz, V. C., The Theory of Investment of the Firm, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1951.
- Maddala, C. S. and Knight, P. T., "International Diffusion of Technical Change--A Case Study of the Oxygen Steel Making Process," *Economic Journal*, Vol. 77 (September 1967), pp. 531-558.
- Mansfield, E., "Technical Change and the Rate of Imitation," *Econometrica*, Vol. 29, (October 1961), pp. 741-766.
- Mansfield, E., "Entry, Gibrat's Law, Innovation, and the Growth of Firms," American Economic Review, Vol. 52 (December 1962), pp. 1023-1051.
- Mansfield, E., "The Speed of Response of Firms to New Techniques," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 67 (May 1963a), pp. 290-311.
- Mansfield, E., "Intrafirm Rates of Diffusion of an Innovation," Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 45 (November 1963b), pp. 348-359.
- Mansfield, E., "Size of Firm, Market Structure, and Innovation," Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 21 (December 1963c), pp. 556-576.
- Mansfield, E., *Technological Change*, W. W. Norton and Company, Inc., New York, 1968a.
- Mansfield, E., Industrial Research and Technological Innovation: An Econometric Analysis, W. W. Norton and Company, Inc., New York, 1968b.
- Mansfield, E., "Contribution of R&D to Economic Growth in the United States," *Science*, Vol. 175 (February 1972), pp. 477-486.
- Mansfield, E. and Hensley, C., "The Logistic Process: Tables of the Stochastic Epidemic Curve and Applications," *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*, Series B, Vol. 22 (1960), pp. 332-337.

- Mansfield, E., Rapoport, J., Romeo, A., Wagner, S., and Beardsley, G., "Social and Private Rates of Return from Industrial Innovations," Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 91 (May 1977), pp. 221-240.
- Market Simulation (Penetration) Model, prepared for the Department of Energy by A. L. Fletcher and Associates, G. S. Maddala, J. W. Milliman, and R. B. Roberts, principal investigators, February 1978.
- Massell, B. F., "Capital Formation and Technological Change in United States Manufacturing," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 42 (May 1960), pp. 182-188.
- McFadden, D., "The Measurement of Urban Travel Demand," Journal of Public Economics, Vol. 3 (1974), pp. 303-328.
- McFadden, D., "Conditional Logit Analysis of Qualitative Choice Behavior," Chapt. 4 in *Frontiers in Econometrics*, Paul Zarembka, ed., Academic Press, New York and London, 1974.
- McFadden, D., "Quantal Choice Analysis: A Survey," Annals of Economic and Social Measurement, Vol. 5 (Fall 1976), pp. 363-390.
- McFadden, D. and Reid, F., "Aggregate Travel Demand Forecasting from Disaggregated Behavioral Models," Transportation Research Board, *Record*, 534 (1975), Washington, D.C., pp. 24-37.
- Mishan, E. J., *Cost-Benefit Analysis*, Praeger Publishers, New York, 1976.
- Muellbauer, J., "Household Production Theory, Quality, and the 'Hedonic Technique,'" American Economic Review, Vol. 64 (December 1974), pp. 977-994.
- Nabseth, L. and Ray, G. F., The Diffusion of New Industrial Processes: An International Study, Cambridge University Press, London, 1974.
- Nelson, R. R., "The Simple Economics of Basic Scientific Research," Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 67 (June 1959), pp. 297-306.
- Nelson, R. R., "A 'Diffusion' Model of International Productivity Differences in Manufacturing Industry," American Economic Review, Vol. 58 (December 1968), pp. 1219-1248.
- Nelson, R. R., Peck, M. J., and Kalachek, E. D., Technology, Economic Growth, and Fublic Policy, The Brookings Institution, Washington, D.C., 1967.
- Nelson, R. R. and Phelps, E. S., "Investment in Humans, Technological Diffusion, and Economic Growth," American Economic Review, Vol. 56 (May 1966), pp. 69-75.

- Oster, S. M. and Quigley, J. M., "Regulatory Barriers to the Diffusion of Innovation: Some Evidence from Building Codes," *Bell Journal of Economics*, Vol. 8 (Autumn 1977), pp. 361-377.
- Perry, A., Sullivan, G. A., Dolan, R. J., and Marsh, C. P., "The Adoption Process: S Curve or J Curve?" *Rural Sociology*, Vol. 32 (1967), pp. 220-222.
- Peterka, V., Macrodynamics of Technological Change: Market Penetration by New Technologies, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria, November 1977.
- Philipson, L. L., "Market Penetration Models for Energy Production Devices and Conservation Techniques," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 11 (1978), pp. 223-236.
- Pollak, R. A. and Wachter, M. L., "The Relevance of the Household Production Function and its Implications for the Allocation of Time," *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 83 (April 1975), pp. 255-277.
- Preinreich, G. A. D., "Annual Survey of Economic Theory: The Theory of Depreciation," *Econometrica*, Vol. 6 (July 1938), pp. 219-241.
- Preinreich, G. A. D., "The Economic Life of Industrial Equipment," Econometrica, Vol. 8 (January 1940), pp. 12-44.
- Quandt, R. E. and Baumol, W. J., "The Demand for Abstract Transport Modes: Theory and Measurement," Journal of Regional Science, Vol. 6 (1966), pp. 13-26.
- Romeo, A. A., "Interindustry and Interfirm Differences in the Rate of Diffusion of an Innovation," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 57 (August 1975), pp. 311-319.
- Rosen, S., "Hedonic Prices and Implicit Markets: Product Differentiation in Pure Competition," Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 82 (January/February 1974), pp. 34-55.
- Sahal, D., "The Multidimensional Diffusion of Technology," in Technological Substitution: Forecasting Techniques and Applications, Harold A. Linstone and Devendra Sahal, eds., American Elsevier Publishing Company, New York, 1976.
- Salter, W. E. G., *Productivity and Technical Change*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England, 1966.
- Schiffel, D., Costello, D., Posner, D., and Witholder, R., The Market Penetration of Solar Energy: A Model Review Workshop Summary, Solar Energy Research Institute, Golden, Colorado, 1977.

- Sharif, M. N. and Kabir, C., "A Generalized Model for Forecasting Technological Substitution," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 8 (1976), pp. 353-364.
- Sharif, M. N. and Kabir, C., "System Dynamics Modeling for Forecasting Multilevel Technological Substitution," *Technological Forecasting* and Social Change, Vol. 9 (1976), pp. 89-112.
- Smith, V. L., "The Borrower-Lender Contract Under Uncertainty," Western Economic Journal, Vol. 9 (March 1971), pp. 52-56.
- Stapleton, E., "The Normal Distribution as a Model of Technological Substitution," Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Vol. 8 (1976), pp. 325-334.
- Stern, M. O., Ayres, R. U., and Shapanka, A., "A Model for Forecasting the Substitution of One Technology for Another," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 7 (1975), pp. 57-59.
- Sutherland, A., "The Diffusion of an Innovation in Cotton Spinning," Journal of Industrial Economics, Vol. 7 (March 1959), pp. 118-135.
- Taylor, J. S., "A Statistical Theory of Depreciation Based on Unit Cost," Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 18 (December 1923), pp. 1010-1023.
- Terborgh, G., Dynamic Equipment Policy, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York, 1949.
- Utterback, J. M., "Innovation in Industry and the Diffusion of Technology," *Science*, Vol. 183 (February 15, 1974), pp. 620-626.
- von Neumann, J. and Morgenstern, O., Theory of Games and Economic Behavior, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1944.
- Walker, F. M., "Determinants of Auto Scrappage," *Review of Economics* and Statistics, Vol. 50 (November 1968), pp. 503-506.
- Wiley, A., "Profitability, Uncertainty, and the Rate of Adoption of Innovations," in *The Methodology of Evaluating Research and Development Projects*, George S. Tolley, ed., Energy Research and Development Administration, Washington, D.C., June 1977.
- Williamson, O. E., "Innovation and Market Structure," Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 73 (February 1965), pp. 67-73.

## THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

ORNL/CON-37

### INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

1.	L. G. Berry	76-85.	P. M. Love
2.	D. J. Bjornstad	86.	W. R. Mixon
3.	B. H. Bronfman	87.	H. D. Nguyen
4-13.	B. W. Brummitt	88.	S. C. Parikh
14.	R. S. Carlsmith	89.	A. M. Perry
15.	H. S. Chang	90.	M. W. Rosenthal
16.	K. R. Corum	91.	D. N. Stuckwish
17.	R. M. Davis	92.	R. C. Tepcl
18.	J. W. Dick	93.	D. P. Vogt
19.	D. J. Downing	94.	T. J. Wilbanks
20.	L. Foster	95.	D. J. Wilkes
21.	W. Fulkerson	96-97.	Central Research Library
22.	E. A. Hirst	98.	Document Reference Section
23.	D. Jared	99-100.	Energy Information Library
24-73.	D. L. Kaserman	101.	Laboratory Records (RC)
74.	C. R. Kerley	102-104.	Laboratory Records Dept.
75.	R. S. Konkel	105.	ORNL Patent Office

### EXTERNAL DISTRIBUTION

106.	Dr. Roger D. Blair, Department of Economics, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611			
107.	Professor Paul A. David, Department of Economics, Encina Hall, Stanford University, Palo Alto CA 94304			
108.	Dr. Gregg Ferris, SERI, 1536 Cole Blvd., Golden. CO 80401			
109.	Ms. Theresa Flaim, SERI, 1536 Cole Blvd., Golden, CO 80401			
110.	Dr. William F. Flanagan, Vanderbilt University, Box 17, Station B, Nashville, TN 37235			
111.	Professor Jerry A. Hausman, Department of Economics,			
	Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139			
112.	Dr. Don Hertzmark, SERI, 1536 Cole Blvd., Golden, CO 80401			
113.	Dr. Anthony G. Lawrence, EPRI, 3412 Hillview Ave.,			
	P. O. Box 10412, Palo Alto, CA 94303			
114.	Dr. C. Marchetti, International Institute for Applied Systems			
	Analysis, A-2361 Laxenburg, Austria			
115.	Dr. Martin K. Perry, 2C-276, Bell Laboratories, 600 Mountain			
	Ave., Murray Hill, NJ 07974			
116.	Mr. Justus Riek, Grumman Data Systems, 45 Crossways Park Dr.,			
	Woodbury, NY 11797			
117.	Dr. Martin O. Stern, 3143 Bremerton Pl., La Jolla, CA 92037			
118.	Dr. Richard S. Stevenson, SERI, 1536 Cole Blvd., Golden,			
	CO 80401			
119.	Dr. Takashi Takayama, Office of Applied Analysis, EIA,			
	U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, D.C. 20461			
120.	Dr. Robert Withholder, SERI, 1536 Cole Blvd., Golden, CO 80401			
121.	Institute for Energy Analysis, ORAU - Library			
122.	Research and Technical Support Division, DOE-ORO			
123-149.	Technical Information Center, DOE, Oak Ridge, TN 37830			
150-440.	External Energy Conservation Distribution Mailing List			